
[image: Cover: The Wolves of K Street: The Secret History of How Big Money Took Over Big Government, by Brody Mullins and Luke Mullins.]




Thank you for downloading this Simon & Schuster ebook.

Get a FREE ebook when you join our mailing list. Plus, get updates on new releases, deals, recommended reads, and more from Simon & Schuster. Click below to sign up and see terms and conditions.




CLICK HERE TO SIGN UP




Already a subscriber? Provide your email again so we can register this ebook and send you more of what you like to read. You will continue to receive exclusive offers in your inbox.








[image: The Wolves of K Street: The Secret History of How Big Money Took Over Big Government, by Brody Mullins and Luke Mullins. Simon & Schuster. New York | Toronto | London | Sydney | New Delhi.]






For Mom and Dad






Patton Boggs was built on the idea that the law can be changed to achieve client objectives… We see the law as a dynamic process, not as immutable rules and procedures.

—Marketing materials for the Washington lobbying firm of Patton Boggs








Prologue

July 9, 2015

Gainesville, Virginia

It was after ten o’clock at night when the cops arrived at the Robert Trent Jones Golf Club in Gainesville, Virginia. Pulling up to the majestic, Georgian-style mansion that serves as the clubhouse, two officers from the Prince William County Police Department located a member of the staff who agreed to take them to the scene. The employee led the police officers away from the redbrick clubhouse, down past the azaleas and the presentation lawn, toward the banks of Lake Manassas. They reached a spit of land between the eighteenth green and the shoreline, where a collection of white Adirondack chairs were arranged in a semicircle around a fire pit. The secluded, serene spot was popular with the club’s members, who liked to gather here after finishing their rounds of golf.

“He’s sitting in a chair behind that tree,”1 the employee said.

Through the darkness and the foliage, the police officers could make out a solitary figure slumped onto one of the chairs. The man was perfectly placid, facing the water. He was a large man—six foot one, maybe 215 pounds—and his clothes reflected the upscale sensibilities of an exclusive private club that cost about $150,000 to join. The man wore a black sports jacket, a white dress shirt, gray slacks, and black loafers. On the left arm of the chair was a burnt cigar. On the grass next to him was an empty bottle of Petrus, a rare wine produced on a twenty-eight-acre estate in Bordeaux, France, that cost $1,500 at the club.

As the police approached the fire pit, they noticed bloodstains on the man’s shirt. They spotted a gunshot wound in his head, and they saw a silver Smith & Wesson .357 pistol. One of the officers put her fingers on the man’s neck, to check his pulse. His skin, she found, was stiff. And despite the humid air of the summer’s evening, the man’s body was cold to the touch.2

Nestled thirty-seven miles west of Washington, DC, the Robert Trent Jones Golf Club is an august social sanctuary for America’s ruling elite. The eighteen-hole course is carved out of a breathtaking stretch of suburban Virginia that runs along the banks of Lake Manassas, near the foothills of the Shenandoah Mountains. It is considered the magnum opus of legendary golf course architect Robert Trent Jones Sr.,3 whose body of work includes the original White House putting green4 and a pitch-and-putt course at Camp David,5 the presidential retreat in Frederick County, Maryland. Upon opening in 1991, the club hosted the first four Presidents Cup matches ever held in the United States; superstar golfers such as Tiger Woods and Phil Mickelson walked the club’s pristine fairways as the nation’s commanders in chief performed ceremonial duties as honorary chairmen.6 Along the way, the club’s membership expanded to include some of the most illustrious names in Washington. President Barack Obama joined7 the Robert Trent Jones Golf Club upon departing the White House in 2017.

On this day—July 9, 2015—the club’s employees were hustling to prepare the grounds for a nationally televised PGA golf tournament hosted by Tiger Woods that would take place in just three weeks.8 It was the biggest golf event of the year in the Washington area. Then the body of one of its members was found in a lawn chair behind the eighteenth green.

Back at the fire pit, the police were taking photographs of the body and carefully collecting evidence from the scene. The revolver was secured by removing the unused bullets from the cylinder. One of the officers walked back up to the clubhouse and began interviewing witnesses.

The staff had no trouble identifying the deceased man. He was a Washington lobbyist, a frequent golfer, and a familiar face at the club. As a server explained to the police, who documented it in their report,9 the lobbyist had arrived at the club around three o’clock that afternoon, entered the bar, and ordered a bottle of Petrus. He left quickly, saying that he had work to do. His temperament, the server noted, had seemed a bit “short.”

After reserving three rooms in the club’s cottages, which are available to members wishing to stay the night, the lobbyist walked down to the fire pit. He took a seat in an Adirondack chair, opened his bottle of Petrus, and peered out at the 770-acre man-made lake. Around five o’clock, the server came down to the area.

Will you be joining us for dinner, he asked.

No, the lobbyist replied, I’m wiped.

At about seventy-thirty, an hour or so before sunset, a different club employee was standing on the eighteenth green when a gunshot pierced the silence. Roughly thirty seconds later, a second blast. The employee thought it must have come from a hunter on the other side of the lake. He went to the top of a hill, maybe fifty yards from the fire pit, and saw the lobbyist sitting alone with a bottle of wine. Assuming that the man had merely passed out, the employee returned to the clubhouse. At ten o’clock he sent the server back down to light the fire pit for another club member.

Realizing that the lobbyist hadn’t moved in several hours, the server went over to check on him. There was a red substance dribbling out of the lobbyist’s mouth, which, at first, the server figured was wine. He shook the man but couldn’t rouse him. He called the police.

Within an hour, a team of county officials had descended on the golf club. Police located the lobbyist’s white Porsche sports car in the parking lot and searched it for clues. A detective entered the room where the lobbyist was staying. Before long, a medical officer came down to the fire pit, examined the body, and, at 10:52 p.m., pronounced the lobbyist dead.

About a month later, after the autopsy had been performed and the body had been buried, things took an unexpected turn. On August 12, 2015, a detective from the Prince William County Police Department received a call from a criminal investigator with the federal Department of Justice.10 The case, it seemed, was about more than a single dead lobbyist.

Though few outside of Washington had ever heard of the now-deceased man, in the capital of wheeling and dealing, he was among its most gifted operators. By pioneering an advanced set of influence-peddling tactics, he’d achieved crucial policy victories for his clients, secured windfall contracts from the federal government, cozied up to key officials in Congress and the White House, and financed a lifestyle of vacation homes, golf memberships, Rolex watches, fancy wine, and cigars.11 But when lawyers at his company received an anonymous letter a few months before his death alleging wrongdoing, internal investigators began scrutinizing the lobbyist’s business activities stretching back an entire decade. The allegations would touch off a years-long case handled by the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the US Attorney’s Office in Washington involving millions of missing dollars, a second Beltway operative, and the murky ethics of DC’s political-influence industry.12 The suspicions would also set in motion the lobbyist’s demise. A few weeks after the allegations first surfaced, his body was discovered behind the eighteenth green at the Robert Trent Jones Golf Club.






Introduction

Since the founding of America, powerful business interests have sought to exercise influence over Washington’s political machinery. Back in the 1850s, the gun magnate Samuel Colt attempted to secure a federal patent extension with the help of young women who’d been enlisted to entertain elected officials.1 “To reach the heart or get the vote, the surest way is down the throat”2 is how a congressional committee characterized the philosophy of Colt’s top lobbyist. Two decades later, a sitting congressman passed out corporate stocks to about a dozen influential lawmakers as part of an effort by the firm set up to build the Union Pacific Railroad to ensure the passage of railroad legislation.3 By the opening decades of the twentieth century, the Standard Oil Company had a senator on retainer, J. P. Morgan & Co. had bankers ghostwriting federal legislation, and top executives at U.S. Steel had congressmen regularly sending them intelligence on key developments in the nation’s capital.4

Yet despite these feats of corruption, for much of Washington’s history, America’s business establishment was unable to achieve the sort of enduring political clout that it so desired. Rather, this central struggle of our democracy—the prerogatives of industrial capitalism versus the best interests of ordinary men and women—played out in a back-and-forth fashion, with periods of corporate excess and abuse inspiring eras of consumer reform.

The industrial exploitation of the Gilded Age, for instance, led to the Progressive Era of the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries,5 when Washington enacted measures outlawing child labor, establishing an eight-hour workday (at least for some employees), regulating the drug and meat-packing industries, and endowing public officials with the power to break up abusive monopolies. Following the indulgence of the Roaring Twenties and amid the trauma of the Great Depression, Congress passed a series of New Deal reforms6 that, among other things, set a federal minimum wage, gave workers the right to form unions, insured customers’ deposits against bank failures, and created new rules against Wall Street predation. When the post–World War II economic boom produced new hazards to employees, consumers, and the environment, the political system rallied to prevent workplace injuries, reduce car crashes, limit air pollution, and keep unsafe toys out of the hands of children.7

Among the first to recognize the tendency of American history to organize itself this way was the historian Arthur M. Schlesinger Sr. “A period of concern for the rights of the few has been followed by one of concern for the wrongs of the many,” he wrote in 1939. “Emphasis on the welfare of property has given way to emphasis on human welfare.”

But as contemporary intellectuals have pointed out, this once-predictable pattern—periods of laissez-faire indifference triggering eras of activist government—has thus far failed to materialize in the modern era.8 In the face of banking catastrophes, environmental disasters, and the implosion of a once-thriving manufacturing sector, America’s political leaders have not enacted the sort of broad-based reforms that followed previous crises.9 A nearly century-long tradition of relatively evenly matched political debates between the forces of Big Business and the interests of ordinary citizens vanished. Instead, during the 1970s, Washington entered a new era: a nearly four-decade-long stretch in which the corporate capitalists of Wall Street, Big Pharma, and Silicon Valley exercised as much control of the political system as did their Gilded Age predecessors—with far less risk of accountability and reform.

How did this happen?

America’s Founding Fathers were clear-eyed about the corrupting potential of special interests, says Bowdoin College professor Andrew Rudalevige. After all, many of the country’s first colonists had fled to what is now Massachusetts in order to escape religious persecution in England. With this ugly history in mind, the framers designed our democracy to withstand the political pressures of church authorities, bankers, merchants, and anyone else who might prioritize their own narrow interests above those of the general public. In 1787 James Madison, who is considered the father of the Constitution, described the “regulation of these various and interfering interests” as “the principal task of modern legislation.”

In “The Federalist No. 10,” one of the eighty-five essays—known as The Federalist Papers—that he and other founding fathers wrote to drum up support for the ratification of the US Constitution,10 Madison outlined the young nation’s tools for limiting the power of interest groups, or “factions,” as he called them. Since any effort to abolish them would be an attack on liberty itself, Madison argued that all interest groups should be free to compete with one another in an open market of ideas. Small interest groups—or minority factions—posed little danger to democracy. But if a particular interest group were to gain favor with enough lawmakers, forming a so-called majority faction, it could, in Madison’s view, “sacrifice to its ruling passion or interest both the public good and the rights of other citizens.”

While drafting the Constitution, Madison and other framers erected a critical firewall against the formation of a majority faction: the nation would be governed by a body of elected representatives. And since these lawmakers would need to cultivate the support of numerous competing interests in order to get elected, it was unlikely, in Madison’s view, that any single interest could achieve undue influence over a particular member of Congress, let alone the entire legislature. Beyond that, the sheer size of the republic—then a 420,000-square-mile expanse from New Hampshire to Georgia—would prevent the coordination required to establish a majority faction.

“The influence of factious leaders may kindle a flame within their particular States, but will be unable to spread a general conflagration through the other States,” Madison wrote. “A rage for paper money, for an abolition of debts, for an equal division of property, or for any other improper or wicked project, will be less apt to pervade the whole body of the Union than a particular member of it; in the same proportion as such a malady is more likely to taint a particular county or district, than an entire State.”

In 1792, five years after Madison wrote these words, America witnessed its first act of lobbying, a term derived from the cajoling and arm-twisting that took place in the lobbies of the seventeenth-century British Parliament. Following the American Revolution, a group of Continental army veterans from Virginia hired a former military officer, William Hull, in a largely unsuccessful effort to convince members of the recently formed Congress to grant them additional benefits.11 As the US economy became more industrial, the number of business lobbyists in Washington gradually increased. Yet for the most part, the political struggle between industry and consumers remained more of an equal contest than a rout. The ambitions of business leaders were kept in check by a network of equally powerful groups with starkly opposing agendas—what the economist John Kenneth Galbraith called “countervailing” forces. At the turn of the twentieth century, railroad magnates and robber barons were outmatched by the political influence of progressive activists. The New Deal was powered by the muscle of organized labor. The reforms of the 1960s and early 1970s reflected the awesome strength of unions, environmental groups, and consumer advocates. Nearly two centuries after the publication of Federalist No. 10, Madison’s framework for healthy interest group competition appeared to be flourishing.

Then, in the 1970s, everything changed.12

Fearing that increased government authority and widespread antibusiness sentiment had imperiled the future of capitalism, industry leaders resolved to crush their political adversaries in the labor, consumer, and environmental movements once and for all. They incited a revolution in corporate political activism, inventing new strategies for deploying their clout—in areas such as campaign finance and think tank scholarship—and transforming Washington’s once sleepy corporate lobbying community into the most powerful influence-peddling machine in American history. “My job used to be booze, broads, and golf,”13 remarked one lobbyist in 1979. “Now it’s organizing coalitions and keeping information flowing.”

The political awakening of corporate America fundamentally altered the nature of interest group conflict in Washington, as neither labor unions nor consumer activists had the financial resources to restrain the ascendant power of Big Business.14 From 1967 to 2007, the number of registered lobbyists in Washington—the vast majority of whom represented business interests—exploded from some five or six dozen to nearly fifteen thousand.15 Washington was getting bigger too. But this rate of growth outpaced even the rapid expansion of federal government spending, which ballooned from about $15 billion to roughly $2.7 trillion over the same period.16 By 2012, for every $1 spent by consumer groups or environmental activists to influence federal policy, corporations and their allies were spending $86.17 That same year, the political scientist Lee Drutman conducted interviews with sixty lobbyists while researching his 2015 book The Business of America Is Lobbying. Not one of them cited a labor union, consumer group, or environmental organization as his or her leading opponent in a specific policy debate. Business lobbyists still had to worry about the political power of rival companies or opposing industries, but they no longer had much to fear from the labor leaders and consumer advocates who had represented the interests of ordinary citizens in Washington.

After holding up for nearly two centuries, James Madison’s framework for healthy interest group competition had collapsed under the weight of the modern corporate influence-peddling apparatus. Using their financial superiority and advanced tactics, corporate lobbyists would deliver for business executives a period of sustained, entrenched influence over Washington policy making that lasted well into the twenty-first century.18 In 2014 Princeton University professor Martin Gilens teamed up with Professor Benjamin I. Page of Northwestern University to examine which forces had the most impact in Washington over time: average citizens, economic elites, business interests, or mass-based groups, such as consumer or environmental organizations. “The central point that emerges from our research,” they concluded, “is that economic elites and organized groups representing business interests have substantial independent impacts on US government policy, while mass-based interest groups and average citizens have little or no independent influence.”19

The unusually strong position of corporations in Washington made tough-minded consumer reforms nearly impossible.20 The major laws that did pass—such as the 2010 Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, which sought to crack down on Wall Street abuses, and President Barack Obama’s national health care bill the same year—weren’t fundamental overhauls of hopelessly broken industries but rather legislative compromises drafted in collaboration with business lobbyists. And key portions of these measures were subsequently watered down by judges, rolled back by lawmakers, or weakened during the federal rule-making process. But the goal wasn’t just kneecapping reform. More significantly, corporate lobbyists used their clout to bend the trajectory of federal policy making in a decidedly and actively pro-business direction. As the journalist Thomas Edsall wrote in his 1984 book The New Politics of Inequality, during the nearly fifty years following the 1932 election of Franklin Delano Roosevelt, the country’s tax and spending policies were guided in large part by the principle of equity. New Deal liberals viewed federal power as a cushion against the destructive potential of corporate capitalism; assertive regulators worked to curb excess corporate power in the marketplace, progressive tax policies moderately redistributed income downward,21 and robust social safety nets protected the poor, elderly, and unfortunate during times of hardship. But following their political awakening in the 1970s, corporate interests forged a pro-business alliance—among Republican and Democratic lawmakers—that pursued a radically different vision for the economy: government shouldn’t restrict the power of capitalism, it should amplify it. “Government is not the solution to our problem,” as Ronald Reagan famously said in his 1981 inaugural address, “government is the problem.” As these free-market evangelists saw it, increasing economic efficiency would enable corporations to lower the price of goods for consumers, boost wages for workers, and grow the economy for all. The framework appealed to conservative Republicans as well as business-minded Democrats on Capitol Hill, who were just then scrambling for new ideas to address the “stagflation” panic of the 1970s. With remarkable speed, Washington set itself to drastically reduce anything that stood in the way of maximum economic efficiency, such as unions, regulations, taxes, and social welfare spending. “In short,” Edsall wrote, “the goal became to influence government policy so as to supplant, in an economic sense, equity with efficiency.”22

This new lodestar of economic policy making—efficiency, as opposed to equity—would guide Washington’s political leaders for most of the next four decades. It was a fractious path; rival companies and competing industries continued to wage vicious lobbying battles with one another over the details of specific bills.23 But over time, the broad parameters of federal economic policy would come to reflect the priorities of the modern corporate boardroom: lower taxes, fewer regulations, freer trade, weaker unions, and less commitment to social spending. For many leaders of Big Business, government was no longer an obstacle to growth, it was a partner in a more profitable future.24 In the words of one lobbyist, “It’s gone from ‘Leave us alone’ to ‘Let’s work on this together.’ ”25



Washington’s pro-business policy consensus would lay the groundwork for a period of astonishing wealth creation. Yet it would also unleash a cascade of economic disruption and social discord for Americans in both political parties. Federal policy makers raced to reposition the US economy away from manufacturing and toward the financial and knowledge-based fields of their corporate benefactors. Millions of blue-collar workers—who didn’t fit into the new paradigm of high-skilled labor and globalized trade—were left behind, shackling entire regions of the country with high unemployment, low social mobility, and endemic despair. Subsequent failures to adequately address a range of pressing concerns, such as stagnant wages, unaffordable health care, astronomical prescription drug prices, predatory home loans, and digital monopolies, kindled popular discontent with the political system.26 All the while, as Jacob Hacker and Paul Pierson demonstrate in their 2010 book, Winner-Take-All Politics, Washington’s corporate-friendly agenda was widening the current gulf between the rich and the poor27 to levels not seen since the 1920s28—a development that fueled political polarization, inflamed class and ethnic resentments, and broadened the appeal of the extremist elements of our society.

Economic inequality is a particularly destabilizing condition, one that scholars have cited as a factor in everything from the fall of the Roman Empire to the outbreak of World War I. “We may have democracy, or we may have wealth concentrated in the hands of a few,” as Supreme Court Justice Louis Brandeis once said, “but we can’t have both.” During the thirty-five years between the 1940s and the mid-1970s, a time when unions and consumer groups were vibrant enough to restrain the ambitions of Big Business, the gap between the rich and the middle class was either shrinking or stable. But by 2021, four decades after corporations came to power in Washington, the United States had become more economically unequal than just about any other developed country in the world—a nation where the top 1 percent of all households held fifteen times the combined wealth of those in the bottom 50 percent.29 And while more recent research suggests that the gap in income inequality in America may have peaked30—thanks to the labor market disruptions that accompanied the pandemic recovery31—it remains alarmingly wide.

Academics have found evidence indicating that economically unequal nations can be less socially cohesive, more politically polarized, less stable, and more vulnerable to revolution—the sorts of places where a mob of extremists might internalize a lie about a stolen election, storm the seat of government, and violently attempt to prevent the transfer of power to a duly elected president. Indeed, as the roughly forty years of outsized corporate influence worked to decouple the actions of America’s policy makers from the opinions of its citizens, people of all political persuasions began to surrender their faith in democracy.32

No one ever called the corporate lobby a majority faction, the way James Madison might have. But it did garner a nickname. By the early 1980s, Washingtonians began referring to the modern, pro-business influence-peddling machine by the downtown thoroughfare along which many of the city’s marquee lobbying firms were located, K Street. Still, as the writer John Judis noted, K Street’s rise was not an inevitability. Nor did anything quite like it exist in other advanced democracies, such as those of Japan and Western Europe, he wrote in his 2000 book The Paradox of American Democracy.33 K Street is a unique manifestation of American ambition, corporate power, and Washington ingenuity. It had to be constructed from the ground up, without blueprints or scale models.

This is a book about the men—for they were almost exclusively men—who built K Street. It follows three lobbying dynasties—one Republican, two Democratic—over the critical period from the 1970s to today, when the modern lobbying industry was created, corporate interests came to power in Washington, and the nature of our economy was fundamentally changed. The patriarch of the first Democratic lobbying dynasty, Tommy Boggs, was the cigar-chomping son of a powerful congressman who set aside his own political ambitions for a life of influence peddling. His prized pupil, Evan Morris, was a wide-eyed upstart determined to surpass the legend of his mentor. Meanwhile, a contemporary of Boggs’s, the avant-garde political fixer Tony Podesta, used his experience as a brass-knuckled liberal activist to advance the interests of Wall Street and Silicon Valley. For more than a half century in the nation’s capital, these men would help unify a previously fractured business advocacy community, ignite an explosion of political spending in Washington, develop close ties to the administrations of Bill Clinton and Barack Obama, and lead the Democratic Party away from its old friends in organized labor and toward a new set of allies in corporate America.

During this same era, four conservative political operatives—Charlie Black, Paul Manafort, Roger Stone, and Lee Atwater—used their links to the Reagan revolution to erect Washington’s signature GOP house of lobbying. Each member of the partnership had his own distinct role: Atwater, the vicious character assassin; Stone, the Watergate-era dirty trickster; Manafort, the Machiavellian mastermind; Black, the elder statesman. Working as a team of campaign strategists and lobbyists, the men would bridge the divide between corporate executives and conservative activists, develop a radical new approach to influence-peddling tactics, provide critical guidance to a young Donald Trump, and help pull the conservative insurgency from the GOP fringes to the Republican mainstream. Decades later, a second-generation member of the family, Jim Courtovich, helped advance the influence industry once again through the newspaper reporters and cable-news celebrities he cultivated while serving as elite Washington’s favorite cocktail party host.

Together, the three dynasties represent the triumph and tragedy of Washington’s lobbying industry. In the face of repeated legislative efforts to limit the political clout of corporations, these men helped facilitate K Street’s evolution from a tiny club of well-connected insiders to an integrated, state-of-the-art business that was more secretive, lucrative, and effective than ever before. Rather than trying to reach individual members of Congress through envelopes of cash delivered in smoke-filled rooms, modern influence peddlers developed sophisticated strategies for winning the votes of lawmakers by shaping the opinions of their constituents back home in their districts. These innovations transformed what had been a business of personal connections and inside-the-Beltway access into one that deployed advanced media tactics to target ordinary Americans living thousands of miles outside of Washington. As K Street moved away from traditional “inside game” strategies in favor of this more advanced “outside game” approach, old-fashioned shoe-leather lobbyists began teaming up with a full sweep of related professionals—PR gurus, social media experts, political pollsters, data analysts, grassroots organizers—to further the interests of big US corporations and their executives.

While helping to enshrine a nearly four-decade-long period of entrenched corporate influence in Washington, the members of these dynasties succeeded in torpedoing one consumer reform effort after another, killing legislative measures that would have reduced prescription drug prices, expanded access to lower-cost home mortgages, and created a system of national health insurance, among many others. At the same time, they helped Rupert Murdoch establish America’s first conservative cable news network, facilitated the emergence of “Too Big to Fail” banks on Wall Street, and assisted the transformation of a politically naïve tech start-up—Google—into the most influential company in Washington. Before long, some of them were exploring their talents outside of the United States, assisting brutal dictators from Zaire to Haiti, securing arms for a guerrilla leader in Angola, and helping a pro-Russian political party rise to power in Ukraine. In return for their efforts, the members of these dynasties achieved social acclaim and opulent wealth. They advised presidents, joined exclusive golf clubs, and amassed collections of modern art, rare wine, and expensive cigars.

But by 2016—amid a groundswell of right-wing populism, left-wing progressivism, and anti–Big Tech fervor—the pro-business alliance that had governed Washington since the late 1970s began coming unglued. The collapse of this pro-business policy consensus was, in a sense, propelled by the extraordinary success of the corporate influence-peddling machine. The same Big Business lobbyists who managed to shape federal policies so as to maximize corporate profits also fueled an angry backlash among the millions of ordinary Americans with neither the clout nor connections to get Washington to pay attention to them. And as this anticorporate blowback gathered steam, industry lobbyists would be forced to confront the most treacherous political landscape in a generation.

The discord on K Street would coincide with a series of crises for key members of the lobbying industry’s foremost dynasties. By the time President Donald Trump left office in January 2021, nearly all of these once high-flying influence peddlers would experience dramatic falls—succumbing to professional miscalculations, personal betrayals, or criminal allegations. One of the lobbyists had his namesake firm ripped away by his own colleagues. Another watched his business shut down altogether. Five came under the scrutiny of federal prosecutors or FBI agents. One went to prison. And, in a tragic illustration of the legacy of K Street, one was found dead at a private golf club located thirty-seven miles outside of Washington, with a bottle of rare wine at his feet and a gunshot wound in his head.






Part I The Inside Game


1972–1999






1


October 16, 1972

Chevy Chase, Maryland

It was dark by the time Tommy Boggs got back to his home in Chevy Chase, an upscale enclave located just north of the Washington border. Pulling his car up to the front of the house, he came upon something unusual. A young man was standing alone in his driveway. Tommy recognized him. He was a former aide from Tommy’s unsuccessful campaign for Congress. He had an urgent message.

“You probably haven’t heard,” the former aide said.

“No,” Boggs replied, “I haven’t heard.”1

The encounter put an abrupt end to what, until then, had been a delightful evening for Tommy and his wife, Barbara. They’d spent the prior few hours at the seven-acre estate of one of DC’s premier young power couples, Wyatt and Nancy Dickerson. Nancy, the pioneering television journalist, and Wyatt, the dashing real estate investor, had established themselves atop the city’s glitterati2 eight years earlier when they’d purchased their thirty-six-room mansion on the banks of the Potomac River, in McLean, Virginia. Situated just thirteen miles northwest of the US Capitol, the property, known as Merrywood, had been the childhood home of Jacqueline Kennedy Onassis; the future First Lady had grown up smacking a fuzzy ball across its tennis courts and splashing in its pool. It was here that John F. Kennedy, then a Massachusetts senator with his eye on the White House, is believed to have written Profiles in Courage, the book that would later earn him a Pulitzer Prize,3 while he was confined to bed following back surgery. After renovating the mansion and adorning it with European antiques, the Dickersons made Merrywood the site of some of the era’s most exclusive social events.4 Invitations to their cocktail and dinner parties were coveted by Washington’s social and political elite.

At thirty-two, Boggs was just starting his career as a Washington power broker. His waistline was heavy but not yet bulging. His neatly combed hair was still full and dark. It would be years before descriptions such as “superlobbyist,” “the most influential lawyer in the nation’s capital,” and “the fattest of fat cats” would be attached to his name. Still, even back then, Washington society had good reason to make sure he was on the guest list. Tommy was the only son of Hale Boggs, the Democratic congressman from Louisiana who also served as majority leader, making him the second-highest-ranking member of the House of Representatives. Hale’s standing was expected to increase even further in the coming years, when—as Capitol Hill insiders predicted—he succeeded Carl Albert as Speaker of the House.

Arriving at Merrywood, Tommy and his wife entered the redbrick, federal-style mansion and greeted their hosts. The event was a gathering of investors in the Palm restaurant, a New York City steakhouse that, at the suggestion of George H. W. Bush, then the US ambassador to the United Nations, had decided5 to open a location in an emerging center of US economic power: downtown Washington. Following its launch two months later, in December 1972, the Palm would become Washington’s premier power lunch spot and the preferred watering hole for Boggs and other A-list power brokers. After an evening of stiff drinks and insider gossip with the Dickersons and their guests, Tommy and Barbara said their good-byes and returned to their car. They departed the sweeping estate, headed east into the Maryland side of the Washington suburbs, and arrived back at their home in Chevy Chase.

It was then that Tommy found the young man in his driveway with an urgent message:

“Your dad’s plane is missing.”6

Carl Albert had been trying to reach Tommy all night. The House Speaker was desperate to make sure that Tommy’s mother, Lindy Boggs, heard the news from one of her children and not some TV news anchor.7 To track down Tommy, Albert had even conscripted the White House operators, who were famous for being able to locate public officials during all manner of emergencies: in October 1962, when President John F. Kennedy needed Hale Boggs at the White House to help the administration manage the Cuban missile crisis, the operators got ahold of him while he was on a fishing boat in the Gulf of Mexico.8 But since the Boggs’s babysitter didn’t know where Tommy and Barbara had spent their evening, no one could find the couple. Around nine o’clock, the Speaker couldn’t wait any longer. He had to call Lindy.

Lindy and Hale Boggs lived in a white brick house on a leafy boulevard in Bethesda, Maryland, just two and a half miles west of Tommy’s place. Alongside their white-columned, center-hall colonial was a half acre of secluded land where Hale grew his sweet corn and the couple hosted their annual garden parties. Earlier that year, some 2,100 guests—lawmakers, aides, journalists—had crammed into their backyard for what was considered, at the time, the largest private party in the region’s history. President Lyndon B. Johnson had once led a team of Secret Service agents onto this same lawn, turning up for the wedding reception of Lindy and Hale’s oldest daughter, Barbara.9

While Tommy was at Merrywood, Lindy was writing letters at her kitchen table, according to a detailed account in Burt Solomon’s book The Washington Century. As she waited to hear from her husband, the family dog had fallen asleep at her feet.10 A day earlier, Hale had reluctantly flown to Anchorage to headline a pair of fund-raisers for a Democratic colleague who was facing a difficult election, Alaska representative Nick Begich. Hale hated the thought of adding the 3,500-mile journey to his already exhausting workload, but as the majority leader, he told a lobbyist at a dinner the night before the trip, “it’s my duty.” The trip would be quick, at least; just two days long. Hale was scheduled to return home that night. But as the evening wore on with no word from him, Lindy grew drowsy from the warmth of the fireplace and put her head down on the table. The ring of the telephone jolted her awake. It was Speaker Albert. He explained how he’d tried to reach Tommy and that he hated to be the one to tell her this, but there was a problem with Hale’s plane.11

Hale’s first fund-raising event in Alaska, which took place the prior evening, had been a nice success, bringing in $22,500 for Begich’s campaign coffers. The speeches, however, had gone on longer than expected, and the next morning the congressmen were too tired to catch their commercial flight to Juneau, where the second fund-raiser was being held. Instead, Hale and Begich drove to the airport later that day and chartered a private jet for the 570-mile trip to the Alaskan capital. The flight should have taken an hour and a half. But their twin-engine Cessna had never arrived in Juneau. By the time Speaker Albert reached Lindy, Hale had been missing for eight hours. No messages had been received from the pilot. And the weather had turned nasty.

“Oh, Carl!” Lindy responded.12

As soon as the former campaign aide told him what happened, Tommy sped down Bradley Boulevard and turned into his parents’ long, winding driveway. He found his mother in her bed. She was stunned—not fully capable of absorbing the news. Tommy explained how sorry he was that he hadn’t been able to deliver the news himself. “Oh, Mom,” he said. “It’s so unfair to you.”13

After details of Hale’s missing plane were broadcast on the ten o’clock news, the Boggs house came alive with activity, as Lindy recalled in her memoir, Washington Through a Purple Veil. The disappearance of the second most powerful man in the House of Representatives was the biggest news story in America. Liz Carpenter, who served as press secretary for former First Lady “Lady Bird” Johnson, drove over and began fielding questions from the reporters who showed up at the front door.14 The family’s parish priest, Father Gingrich, arrived. Lindy spoke with the US Air Force and Coast Guard officials who were coordinating the search; so far, they’d been able to get only one plane in the air before the fog grew too dense.

Before long, a crowd of friends, neighbors, and family was stirring anxiously beside the framed photographs of Hale with Lyndon Johnson and Hale with John F. Kennedy. The phone rang nonstop, and a second line was soon installed. Former vice president Hubert Humphrey and Massachusetts Senator Edward Kennedy each called, separately, to say they’d flown with the man piloting Hale’s plane. He was a top-notch navigator, they insisted. Alaska’s first-term Republican senator, Ted Stevens, phoned to urge the family not to give up hope, explaining that he’d survived a plane crash in Alaska himself.I Another Republican, Michigan congressman Gerald Ford, who would become president in less than two years, called frequently to check in on Lindy and the family.15

As pots of black coffee brewed in the kitchen, Lindy summoned the strength to reassure her worried guests. President Richard Nixon was arranging for a military jet to fly the family to Alaska, and the federal government was set to deploy seventy aircraft, four Coast Guard ships, as well as mountaineers and divers in its effort to bring Hale to safety. It would be the largest search-and-rescue mission in American history. “Look, now,” Lindy told the crowd of friends and family, “they’re going to find him.”16

By daybreak, the house had finally emptied. Lindy poured herself a glass of sherry and took a seat in the den. Tommy rested on the sofa beside her. For Hale’s wife and son, it must have seemed like a particularly cruel time for all this to happen. After all the gossip and bad press, the burdens that once imperiled Hale’s career had finally lifted. Over the past year and a half, the FBI had wrapped up its corruption probe, prosecutors had decided against bringing an indictment, and the fifty-eight-year-old congressman had found a way to manage his drinking. When he left for Dulles Airport less than forty-eight hours earlier, Hale Boggs wasn’t just the future Speaker of the House, he was a happy man once again. But now Lindy and Tommy were wide awake at dawn, wondering if they’d ever see him again.

Eventually Lindy walked out of the room and left Tommy alone with his thoughts. He clenched his fists and grunted in anger.

“Son of a bitch,” he muttered.17 “Son of a bitch.”



Although he had not yet established himself as “the King of K Street,” Tommy Boggs’s insider pedigree had already set him apart from other DC lobbyists. With his mother’s ancestors having held public office since the early seventeenth century,18 and his father serving as an influential member of Congress, Tommy had grown up amid the romance of post–World War II Washington. He’d watched presidential State of the Union addresses from the House gallery, skipped school to attend important congressional debates, and found figures such as House Speaker Sam Rayburn and Texas Senator Lyndon B. Johnson sitting around his childhood dinner table.19 In college, Tommy landed a part-time job as the private elevator operator for the Speaker of the House. To the lawmakers on Capitol Hill, he was known simply as “Hale’s boy.”20

After leaving public service, Tommy found another way to make an imprint on Washington. By studying how government power had transferred from the White House to Congress in the years after the Watergate scandal and learning how to organize rival business interests into unified lobbying coalitions, he helped lead the political-influence industry out of its primitive state. He would empower corporate executives to confront—and ultimately vanquish—their political adversaries in organized labor, consumer activism, and the environmental movement. “In some ways,” as the New York Times put it in 1979, “Mr. Boggs now has as much influence over the decision-making process in Washington as if he had been elected.”21

His power of persuasion was the stuff of legend; Boggs once convinced a senator to tank a major piece of legislation through a conversation at the lawmaker’s wife’s bedside in a Washington-area cancer ward. Yet despite his soft-spoken charisma and passion for the nuances of policy, Tommy’s effectiveness as a lobbyist was rooted in his illustrious family tree. As the only son of Congressman Hale Boggs, Tommy acquired the influential friends, interpersonal gravitas, and political wisdom needed to broker complex legislative compromises. “Everything I know,” Tommy once told a colleague, “I learned from my dad.” The disappearance of Hale’s plane, somewhere over the Alaskan wilderness in the fall of 1972, would serve as the defining trauma of Tommy’s life. “Tommy was old enough and Hale was young enough that they had a relationship other than just father and son,” his wife, Barbara, said in an interview with the author Burt Solomon for his book The Washington Century.22 Then came an incident that “was so traumatic and unexpected and unnecessary.”

Said Linda Lipsen, the head of the trial lawyers lobby and a longtime client of Tommy’s: “It was a hole that was never filled.”

The episode was more than a personal tragedy. Over the prior thirty years, Congressman Hale Boggs had worked to burrow the values of New Deal liberalism deep into the Washington firmament. With the backing of a then thriving union movement, Hale helped his Democratic colleagues erect a succession of brand-new regulatory bodies—from the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) to the Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA)—and provide public officials with a more muscular set of tools to rein in the power of free-market capitalism. In the wake of his father’s disappearance, Tommy would pursue the opposite agenda, using his clout as a corporate lobbyist to roll back regulations, increase the political influence of business executives, and discredit the very notion that the government had a legitimate role to play in the private economy.

Though it didn’t seem so at the time, it was then, during the first few agonizing hours of waiting for updates on the search for Hale’s plane, that the Boggs family’s legacy began to change. As a three-decade-long tradition of government activism and consumer reform vanished into the Alaskan skyline, the Boggs name would soon find itself affixed to Washington’s premier Democratic lobbying dynasty. And through the efforts of Tommy, it would eventually become synonymous with PAC donations, duck hunting trips, and the outsized sway of corporations in Washington.

“I love the game,” Boggs once told a reporter. “Always loved the game.”

It began on a fraternity dance floor. During the opening week of rush season in 1934, Lindy Claiborne arrived at the Beta Theta Pi house at Tulane University, in New Orleans, for a fraternity dance. Then a sixteen-year-old freshman at Tulane’s sister school, Newcomb College for women, Lindy was a petite southern lady of impeccable manners and understated moxie; she lied about her age to Newcomb’s admissions officer in order to gain entry a year earlier than allowed. Her grace and pluck were rooted in imperial stock. Her earliest ancestor in the New World, William Claiborne, had emigrated from England to Jamestown, Virginia, in 1621, and he later became the first white settler to colonize Maryland. From there, each subsequent generation of Claibornes had sent at least one family member into public office. Thomas Claiborne, a congressman from Virginia, had fought with General Andrew Jackson in the Creek War of 1813–14. William Charles Cole Claiborne was the first governor of the Louisiana Territory. At the fraternity house, Lindy began dancing with a tall, handsome young man with blue eyes and wavy, brown hair. He guided her awkwardly across the floor, and then, in a soft voice, he made a daring promise: “I’m going to marry you someday.”23

Lindy was speechless. When their dance ended and the two parted ways, according to her memoir, she wondered aloud, “Who was that crazy boy?”24

At eighteen, Hale Boggs was also just starting his freshman year of college. He’d been the golden boy of Long Beach High School, in Mississippi, just across the Gulf from New Orleans, earning high marks, arguing at the statewide debate championship, and serving as president of his senior class. Hale won the New Orleans Times-Picayune’s essay contest so frequently that the newspaper had to implement a rule preventing first-prize winners from submitting entries in consecutive weeks.25 When Tulane’s president saw Hale’s academic record and learned of his family’s financial troubles, he awarded him a four-year scholarship. Hale’s family had once been nearly as prominent as Lindy’s. One early ancestor, who owned an island in the Gulf of Mexico, had alerted Andrew Jackson to the British warships that were cruising toward New Orleans in 1814. Hale’s father, though, was less commercially minded; he worked as a farmer, a dairyman, and then a bank cashier, but he could never bring in enough to make Hale and his five siblings comfortable. Eventually the Great Depression put Hale’s father out of work,26 and the family moved from one neighborhood to the next, ducking angry landlords when they couldn’t scrape together the rent.27

Lindy and Hale got to know each other better through their work on Tulane’s campus newspaper, the Hullabaloo; she was the women’s news editor, and he was the editor in chief. Among his fraternity brothers, Hale earned the nickname “the Senator,” and, on the editorial page, he regularly blasted Louisiana’s iron-fisted political boss, Huey Long.28 After college, Hale and Lindy got married and had a little girl, Barbara. To support his young family while he decided what to do with his life, Hale took a job at one of New Orleans’s local newspapers, the Daily States. But when he told the editor he wanted a full-time position, the man said, “Too bad. You’re fired.” Hale’s talents would be wasted in journalism, he was told.29

After graduating from Tulane University’s law school, Hale decided to take on Long’s corrupt political empire more directly. In 1940 he challenged Representative Paul Maloney, a five-term incumbent backed by the Long machine, for the congressional seat representing New Orleans. Wearing a white linen suit and casting his deep baritone voice, Hale lambasted Maloney as a “tool of the Long dictatorship” with nothing to show for his decade in Washington.30 Amid a wave of reformist energy, Hale took the election by a comfortable margin.

Eight days later, Lindy gave birth to her second child, Tommy. It had been a difficult delivery, as little Tommy’s breathing was strained, and his legs were weak. Doctors found a problem with his thymus gland and recommended what was then a novel treatment: radiation. “It was a difficult decision for Hale and me to make,” Lindy wrote later.31 “But we took a chance with the hope of a normal life for Tommy.” The gamble paid off: Tommy soon began putting on weight and gaining strength. Before long, the little boy was, as his mother put it, “as round as he is tall.” At just twenty-six, Hale was set to become the youngest Democrat in the House of Representatives. But even more than that, he and his young family were about to realize the campaign slogan that he’d borrowed from the popular 1939 Jimmy Stewart movie: “Mr. Boggs Goes to Washington.”32

On a sunny, frigid morning in January 1941, Hale and Lindy crammed into a crowd of spectators near the East Portico of the US Capitol Building, about a block off the National Mall, as the infantry troops and West Point cadets strutted down Pennsylvania Avenue.33 Lindy and the kids had joined Hale in Washington just in time for the third inauguration of the couple’s political hero, President Franklin D. Roosevelt. The brand-new congressman and his wife had been inspired by the unprecedented measures that FDR had taken to rescue the economy from the Great Depression, and they looked on with approval as members of two popular New Deal jobs programs, the National Youth Administration and the Civilian Conservation Corps, marched in the inaugural parade.34 As war raged in Europe and draft-age Americans worried about their futures, President Roosevelt appeared atop the marble steps of the Capitol. He needed both hands to steady himself at the podium, on account of his legs, long since paralyzed by polio, as he tried to encourage a jittery nation. “Democracy,” he insisted, “is not dying.”

Though their first election victories were eight years apart, both FDR and Hale Boggs had arrived in Washington by way of the same political riptide. In 1932, during the doldrums of the Depression, a diverse assortment of previously unallied Americans—union members, Blacks, religious minorities, recent immigrants, and southerners35—had joined forces to effectuate the most consequential political realignment since the Civil War. This so-called New Deal coalition would put FDR in the White House, precipitate an almost fifty-year stretch of nearly uninterrupted Democratic control of both chambers of Congress, and provide the popular support for an extraordinary expansion of the federal enterprise. It was during this period that voters grew increasingly enamored with politicians like Hale Boggs—Democrats who believed that government should use its power to protect ordinary citizens from the excesses of capitalism and help improve the lives of the disadvantaged and the poor.

While juggling the duties of a congressional spouse and mother of two, Lindy became accustomed to the unique rituals of political life in Washington. When she arrived late to a White House garden party—a serious embarrassment—Lindy apologized repeatedly to Eleanor Roosevelt and explained that she’d had to care for her little boy, Tommy, who was suffering from teething pains. “I’m glad somebody has her priorities straight,” the First Lady responded.36 Lindy made friends with the wives of other southern Democrats, such as Lady Bird Johnson and Pauline Gore, the wife of Senator Al Gore Sr. and mother of future Vice President Al Gore Jr. At the end of the workday, she often picked up Hale from his congressional office in the family’s Pontiac. One evening, while she waited for her husband to finish up, she walked onto the lawn and stared admiringly at the Capitol dome. Then she heard a man’s voice beside her: “Isn’t that the most beautiful sight in the world?” It was Sam Rayburn, the Speaker of the House—one of the most influential men in Washington at a time when power was concentrated in the hands of the president and a few congressional leaders. He liked to step outside and gaze up at the rotunda when the pressures of leadership got to him.37

Rayburn, a taciturn Texan, had spotted potential in Hale the moment he stepped onto Capitol Hill. The freshman lawmaker was a soaring orator with magnetic charisma. He handed out sweet corn from his garden to his aides,38 and the congressional secretaries—whom Hale always addressed as “Beautiful”39—once voted him the most charming member of the House. But in Hale, the Speaker found something even more valuable: loyalty. He considered the young southerner a dutiful soldier who could be counted on to vote for the Speaker’s priorities. Rayburn began inviting Hale to his “Board of Education” meetings,40 where a small group of Democratic lawmakers convened around five o’clock several days a week in the Speaker’s hideaway office to drink liquor, play cards, and discuss votes. Over time, the childless and unmarried Rayburn became something of a surrogate father to the upstart lawmaker. “He more or less adopted me,” Hale said.41

The Boggs children, who grew to three in number with the birth of their youngest sibling, Corrine “Cokie” Boggs, were raised on insider politics. Decades before becoming a cohost of ABC-TV’s Sunday political talk show This Week, Cokie celebrated her seventh birthday in the Speaker’s dining room, and towering Washington figures were constantly dropping by their house. Texas congressman Lyndon B. Johnson, whom Hale got to know through Rayburn’s “Board of Education,” was a frequent dinner guest. After Cokie’s pet chicken, Charlie, was killed by a stray neighborhood dog, Speaker Rayburn—“Mr. Sam” to the kids—presided over the backyard funeral.42 And when Lindy was confined to bed after contracting hepatitis from a blood transfusion, Hale decided to cheer her up by bringing over one of his buddies from Congress who’d recently recovered from the same illness: John F. Kennedy.43

Strong personal relationships were central to Hale’s growing influence in Washington. As a close friend of both Kennedy and Johnson, he played a decisive, behind-the-scenes role in forging their historic political partnership. On the day that Kennedy received the Democratic nomination for president, at the party’s 1960 convention in Los Angeles, Hale learned that Johnson had been offered the vice presidency. There was just one catch: Johnson would accept the position only if Speaker Rayburn supported the decision. Rayburn, however, thought the move would be disastrous; Americans would never elect a Catholic president, he believed, and Johnson’s ties to the doomed campaign would imperil his career. It was Hale who changed Rayburn’s mind,44 arguing that by joining the presidential ticket, Johnson could deliver the South for Kennedy and keep Richard Nixon out of the Oval Office.

As his pals moved into the White House, Hale ascended the congressional leadership ladder. When Rayburn died from cancer in 1961, House Speaker William McCormack made Hale his majority whip, the third-ranking member of the House leadership. Other Boggs family members gained influence as well. Lindy served as cochair of Kennedy’s inaugural ball,45 and the couple’s eldest daughter, Barbara, joined Kennedy’s staff, where she wrote letters to constituents and performed other tasks.46 On one occasion, at Barbara’s behest, Kennedy’s aides borrowed Lindy’s silverware in order to prepare a proper southern breakfast for the Yankee president.47 In November 1963 Hale and other House leaders had breakfast with JFK in the White House, and, afterward, the president took Hale and Lindy outside48 to show them the recently redesigned Rose Garden.

“Lindy,” Kennedy asked, “how long do chrysanthemums bloom in Washington in the fall?”

“Well, until the first frost.”

“Oh, I hope the first frost comes late this year.”49

Two weeks later, the president was dead, assassinated in Dallas. Hale was among the handful of somber congressmen assembled at Andrews Air Force Base, just hours after the shooting, in suburban Maryland, when Air Force One returned from Dallas carrying Kennedy’s body and America’s new president, Lyndon Johnson. Standing on the tarmac, Hale watched officials slide the coffin into an ambulance as Jacqueline Kennedy disembarked from the plane in a bloodstained pink suit. Around seven thirty that evening, Hale and eight other congressional leaders met Johnson in the Old Executive Office Building, next to the White House. “I am president in a way that no man would ever want to become president,” Johnson told them.50 “But I am president.”

When the meeting ended, Hale wished his old friend well. “God bless you, Mr. President.”51

Though Tommy Boggs had known Lyndon Johnson for the better part of his life, he hadn’t really become friendly with the tall, swaggering Texan until his father arranged a part-time job for him in Congress in the late 1950s. His job as an operator of a private elevator52 for Speaker Sam Rayburn put him on a first-name basis with lawmakers all over Capitol Hill. Boggs ran into Johnson, then the majority leader in the Senate, nearly every day. When Congress was in session, Johnson liked to stop by Rayburn’s hideaway office around eight thirty at night for a couple of drinks. After an hour or so of chatting, Johnson would fix himself a final, tall glass of Cutty Sark scotch—“one for the road,”53 in Boggs’s telling—say good-bye to his colleagues, and walk back toward the elevator.

“Come on, Tommy,” Johnson would say. “Carry this out to the car with me. I don’t want to be seen running around Congress with a glass of [scotch] in my hand.”54 Tommy would hold the drink as discreetly as possible, as he walked Johnson down to the parking garage and then watched the future president drive off.

Like his father and his Claiborne ancestors, Tommy Boggs wanted a life in politics. After having developed the chummy relationship with Johnson, Tommy started doing advance work for his unsuccessful 1960 presidential campaign. Though not yet old enough to vote, he traveled with Johnson’s team to New York and convinced volunteers to campaign on commuter trains so that they could reach more people. When he finished college in 1961, he joined the staff of the Senate’s Joint Committee on Economics, while also attending Georgetown Law School at night. But he soon drifted back to Johnson’s orbit, joining the White House in January 1964. Though technically a special assistant to the head of the Office of Emergency Planning, he functioned as a political aide to the president, spending most of his time handling logistics for Johnson’s public appearances.

One of his first assignments was to help organize the new president’s 1964 trip to Appalachia55 as part of his war on poverty. That fall, Tommy traveled to Harrisburg, Pennsylvania, to prepare for the first public event of Johnson’s reelection campaign. However, not even the Boggs family name could protect him from Johnson’s temper. After Tommy was quoted giving details of the president’s Harrisburg visit to a local newspaper, he received an irate phone call at six o’clock in the morning.

“I’m supposed to announce what I’m doing!”56 Johnson barked. “Not you!”

Nevertheless, Tommy loved the work; it gave him a firsthand look at the scope of the White House’s power. On one occasion, he used his authority to uproot a tree57—over the objections of the town’s mayor—that would have blocked the president’s view of spectators. Between the contacts he made in the White House and his family friends in Congress, he was developing into one of Washington’s best-wired young operators. There was just one problem: the salary. Tommy had married his wife at age twenty while still in college; his mother and her best friend had set them up in what Tommy’s sister once called “the only arranged marriage in the twentieth century.” Now twenty-six, he and Barbara had two children and a third on the way, and he didn’t think he could continue to support them on $10,500 a year. “[I] needed to make some money,” he told a journalist.

In 1966, after fifteen months in the job, Tommy told the president he was leaving the White House for a more lucrative career.

Johnson wished his young sidekick “all the luck in the world.”58

At the time, Washington’s influence business was ruled by a small collection of masters-of-the-universe-type insiders who slipped in and out of government and called in favors from their powerful friends. While they couldn’t introduce amendments or call up a bill for a vote, members of this permanent shadow government could bend federal policy in their clients’ direction through a well-timed phone call or a private chat at a cocktail party. Tommy “the Cork” Corcoran, for example, was a Wall Street lawyer turned trusted aide to Franklin D. Roosevelt. During his seven years in the administration, he accompanied FDR to social events, drafted Depression-era banking laws, and crafted some of the president’s most enduring speeches. It was Corcoran who authored the celebrated line from Roosevelt’s 1936 address to the Democratic Convention in Philadelphia: “To some generations, much is given. Of other generations, much is expected. This generation has a rendezvous with destiny.”59

Upon leaving the White House in 1940, Corcoran emerged as one of DC’s first mega lobbyists. He derived his power from his ties to the men who ran Washington; during his years in the White House, Corcoran had played a role in the hiring of virtually every senior administration official, and he’d established a close personal relationship with President Roosevelt himself—indispensable friendships for an influence peddler on the make. The Cork didn’t advertise his business, he kept his number out of the phone book, and he worked out of a small office with no nameplate above the door. Still, businessmen seeking help in Washington learned how to find him. One of his early clients, the industrialist Henry Kaiser, came to Corcoran looking for a way to profit off the American mobilization for World War II. Corcoran used his government contacts to broker a meeting between Kaiser and the US War Production Board that resulted in $645 million worth of federal contracts to build shipyards.60 Corcoran earned $90,000 from that deal alone, and he went on to make a then-staggering sum of $1 million in his first year in business.

When Presidents Kennedy and Johnson took office, each sought Corcoran’s guidance as one of the few Washington operatives with years of experience running the White House. Over the following decades, Corcoran used those relationships and his detailed knowledge of how to work the federal bureaucracy to benefit giant American companies such as Pan American Airways, El Paso Natural Gas Company, and United Fruit Company. His most effective tactics remained his most straightforward. In the early 1970s, representatives of a tool and die company arrived at Corcoran’s office and explained that due to a welding problem, they were in jeopardy of losing their contract to make barrels for the US Department of Defense.

“Let me make a telephone call,” Corcoran told the men, according to David McKean’s Tommy the Cork: Washington’s Ultimate Insider from Roosevelt to Reagan.

“Should we leave?” one of the executives asked.

“No, no. Stay put,” Corcoran said, waving at them to sit down.

Corcoran picked up the phone, asked to be connected to a Defense Department official, had a brief conversation, and hung up.

“It’s settled,” he said. “Your problems are over.”

The executives left his office, and, days later, they received an invoice for $10,000 payable to Tommy Corcoran.

The tall, dashing Clark Clifford was another legendary influencer of the era. A native of President Harry Truman’s home state of Missouri, Clifford ran his own law practice before enlisting in the navy during World War II. When Truman tapped a friend from Missouri to serve as his naval aide, Clifford tagged along to Washington. He joined the White House as its legal counsel, became a close confidant of the president’s, and drafted the legislation establishing the secretary of defense and creating the Central Intelligence Agency. Perhaps more important to his future career in lobbying, Clifford was put in charge of Truman’s regular poker game.61 He arranged for a rotating cast of Washington luminaries—Supreme Court Chief Justice Fred Vinson, Commerce Secretary W. Averell Harriman, Lyndon Johnson, among others—to float down the Potomac River on the presidential yacht, the USS Williamsburg, as they sipped bourbon, cracked jokes, and played cards. Truman, FDR’s new running mate in 1944, had served as vice president for only three months when Franklin D. Roosevelt died suddenly of a cerebral hemorrhage in April 1945, catapulting Truman into the presidency. He was widely expected to lose reelection in 1948. But after Truman pulled off an upset victory over New York governor Thomas Dewey, Clifford was credited as the campaign’s strategic mastermind and came to be viewed as the central nervous system of the White House.

Departing the administration in 1950, Clifford opened a legal practice and fashioned himself into the quintessential Washington wise man for hire. Before long, he was raking in lucrative fees from an elite roster of clients, including General Electric Co., Trans World Airlines, and Standard Oil of California.62 In the early 1960s he tapped his vast network of allies in the Kennedy administration to slip a change into the law that saved $500 million in taxes for chemical conglomerate DuPont by allowing the firm to write off a huge fine, according to Friends in High Places, by Douglas Frantz and David McKean. Clifford’s fee: nearly $1 million.63 Though Clifford, like Corcoran, remained an effective political problem solver into the early 1970s, his playbook never changed; his entire business model revolved around his ability to land favors from influential friends in the executive branch. On one occasion, according to K Street lore, an attorney for a Midwest corporation reached out to Clifford and asked what his company should do about a tax bill that was pending in Congress.

Several weeks later, Clifford sent the lawyer a telegram with his response: “Do nothing.” He then sent the company a bill for $20,000.

The attorney was furious. He demanded a more thorough explanation of the do-nothing strategy. Clifford sent another response: “Because I said so.”

He followed up with a bill for an additional $5,000.64



Despite the outsized clout of a handful of well-connected men, Washington’s influence business was still in its Stone Age. In 1961 a total of only 130 American companies had retained lobbyists of any kind. Of those, just 50 opened offices in Washington65 to give their lobbyists a base of operations; most of these firms were in heavily regulated industries, such as telecommunications, broadcasting, and defense contracting, which required frequent contact with the government. These influence peddlers largely ignored the lawmakers on Capitol Hill. One study published in 1964 found that of the 166 large companies that the researchers examined, only 22 percent had made any contact at all with Congress during the prior two years.66 The bulk of corporate representatives in Washington were there not to influence lawmakers but to try to sell products to Uncle Sam.67 At most corporations, postings in the nation’s capital were among the least desirable. “The Washington office,” a Conference Board researcher wrote of this period, “used to be the place where you shipped your soon-to-retire executive.” The small amount of lobbying that businesses did conduct was carried out primarily through trade associations,68 which pressed government officials—mostly unsuccessfully—to rein in new industry regulations and curb the strength of organized labor unions. But the business community’s leading advocacy groups, the US Chamber of Commerce and the National Association of Manufacturers, had small staffs, little funding, and even less influence on political decision-making.

Corporate America’s disregard for Washington was, at the time, perfectly rational. The country’s unprecedented economic boom of the 1950s and 1960s had wiped away nearly all major political threats to corporate profit growth.69 As Europe and Japan struggled to rebuild their infrastructures and economies from the devastation of World War II, America’s fast-growing manufacturing sector70 made it a global economic powerhouse; from 1947 to 1973, the nation’s gross domestic product exploded by a factor of six and the median income doubled.71 In this twenty-six-year stretch, the average American family accumulated more purchasing power than it had gained during all 197 prior years of the country’s history combined.72 Some historians refer to this period as the Golden Age of Capitalism. Edward Heath, Great Britain’s prime minister in the early seventies, called it “the greatest prosperity the world has ever known.” As corporate revenues soared, the leading business executives in the United States reached a pivotal conclusion. They decided that their interests would be best served by making peace with their traditional adversaries.73

Since the start of the Industrial Age, the struggle between organized labor and corporate management had been the defining conflict of America’s economy. But not long after World War II, the battle began to de-escalate. In 1950, for example, GM’s leadership chose to accommodate—rather than fight—its largest labor union, the United Automobile Workers, reaching a historic compromise that came to be known as the Treaty of Detroit. In return for pledging not to strike, workers received an unusually generous five-year contract that provided annual wage increases, cost-of-living adjustments, health care benefits, a pension, and other perks.74 Such agreements became increasingly common at US manufacturing firms, and they emerged as a defining feature of the “capital-labor accord” that marked the post–World War II era.75 Corporate managers “wanted to make the labor movement tolerable and manageable,” wrote the historian Howell John Harris, “and then to live with it, not to destroy it.”76

Likewise, throughout most of American history, wealthy industrialists had fiercely resisted efforts to widen the government’s authority. Even during the Great Depression, when the public was desperate for assistance, some business leaders maintained their opposition. But many others revised their thinking and became willing to back—or at least accept—the New Deal’s historic expansion of the federal enterprise.77 The corporate community’s accommodation of Washington’s growth continued during and after the Second World War. As President Johnson pushed to enact his Great Society initiatives, for example, Big Business chose to avoid open conflict with the government. Instead, corporate executives resolved not to resist—and in some cases even support—the key increases in federal power that accrued in the mid-1960s.78 No major corporate leader opposed the passage of Medicare, federal aid to education, or the war on poverty. With the exception of those in the South, most businesses didn’t try to stop the passage of the landmark 1964 Civil Rights Act,79 despite the cumbersome new restrictions it placed on the handling of internal personnel matters.80 The country’s most sweeping protections for the air and water were signed into law by a Republican president, Richard Nixon, who created the Environmental Protection Agency. Top executives at twenty-two firms—including Standard Oil of California, General Electric, and Chase Manhattan Bank—signed a letter supporting a 1966 bill providing federal funds to redevelop urban slums.81 And in 1970 a survey of 270 Fortune 500 CEOs found that nearly 60 percent believed that government environmental regulatory activities should actually be increased.82

As Richard Barber wrote in the New Republic in 1966, “a new breed of corporate executive is on the scene, professionally trained and more oriented to the science of management than to the perpetuation of an ideology which looks upon government as intrinsically evil. The modern company officer accepts government (much like he accepts the labor movement) and works actively with it.”83

The corporate accommodation of labor unions and the government was a linchpin of the so-called liberal consensus84 that emerged during the postwar years. As the economy continued to boom, activist federal regulators and a thriving labor movement served as “countervailing” forces that checked the power of corporations and compelled business executives to recognize—albeit grudgingly85—the legitimacy of collective bargaining, the welfare state, and federal intervention in the economy.86 Though this measured detente87 was brokered by a corporate establishment that was more moderate and pragmatic than today’s, CEOs also had the best of all reasons to share power with their rivals. “What the hell,” one executive told Newsweek magazine. “Business is making money.”88

It was as close to James Madison’s vision for healthy interest group competition as the United States had ever achieved.89 But in the very same year that Tommy Boggs departed the White House, this equilibrium of power began to unravel. And it all became clear by way of an upstart consumer activist and an improbable case of mistaken identity.



During a trip to Des Moines, Iowa, in January 1966, Ralph Nader began to grow suspicious. The same man, he noticed, kept reappearing at different times and in different locations inside the Kirkwood Hotel, where he was staying. Nader spotted the man two times on the hotel’s ground floor and once upstairs, near the door to his room. It wasn’t only the multiple sightings that unnerved Nader, but also the stranger’s ominous demeanor. Nader began to wonder if he was being followed.90

For most of his thirty-one years, Nader, a lanky Harvard-trained lawyer, had attracted little notice. But just six weeks before he arrived in Des Moines, the publication of his book Unsafe at Any Speed: The Designed-in Dangers of the American Automobile, had touched off a public relations nightmare for one of America’s most powerful industries. At a time when traffic fatalities were climbing to record highs, Nader’s book argued that a particular model of General Motors vehicles, the Chevrolet Corvair, was more likely to spin out of control due to a suspension flaw. Through meticulous research, he argued credibly that Detroit’s auto giants were accumulating their massive revenues at the expense of customers’ lives. In 1965, for example, Senator Robert Kennedy of New York forced the chairman of General Motors, Frederic Donner, to admit in a committee hearing that, a year before, GM had turned a $1.7 billion profit but spent just $1.25 million on vehicle safety.91 The book’s revelations generated a wave of media coverage,92 increased congressional scrutiny on the auto industry, and turned Nader, almost overnight, into Detroit’s most recognizable critic.

At the invitation of Iowa’s attorney general, Nader had come to Des Moines to testify at a series of vehicle safety hearings. He was so rattled by his encounters with the man in his hotel that he reported his concerns to the attorney general. When Nader returned home to Washington, DC, other curious events started to occur.93 In the days leading up to his appearance at a US Senate hearing on auto safety, he began getting bizarre phone calls, even though his number was unlisted.

“Why don’t you change your field of interest?”

“You are fighting a losing battle. You can’t win. You can only lose.”

“Why don’t you go back to Connecticut, buddy boy?”94

Around this time, Nader also started receiving phone calls and letters from old professors, colleagues, and classmates congratulating him on his new job opportunity. Nader, confused, inquired as to what they were talking about. As it turned out, a handful of his former teachers and coworkers had been contacted by a man who claimed to be conducting a background investigation of Nader on behalf of a company that was considering hiring him. One former law school classmate was visited by the investigator at his office in Boston. The investigator had thick-framed glasses, and he carried a tan attaché case. He refused to identify the company he represented, and he asked questions that didn’t seem to have any bearing on Nader’s professional qualifications. He inquired as to whether Nader was involved with any left-wing groups and, referencing his incorrect belief that Nader was of Syrian descent, wondered if he’d ever expressed anti-Semitic views. (Nader’s parents were from Lebanon.) He also asked why Nader, a man in his early thirties, had never been married.

“Are you asking me if he’s a homosexual?” the friend said.

“Well,” the investigator replied, “we have to ask about these things.”95

No, the friend told the investigator. Nader wasn’t gay.

Back in Washington, Nader suddenly found himself attracting more attention from women. While perusing a magazine rack in a drugstore not far from his rooming house, he was approached by a pretty brunette in her twenties. “I know this sounds a little forward,” she began, “but can I talk to you?”96

She was on her way to meet a group of friends to “discuss foreign affairs,”97 she claimed. Would Nader like to join? The exchange alarmed Nader; he suspected that he was being lured into a compromising situation. He tried to decline the invitation politely, but the woman was so insistent that he had to walk away. Days later, it happened again. While Nader was shopping at a nearby grocery store, another attractive young woman, a blonde this time, came up to him. She asked if Nader would be kind enough to give her a hand moving “something heavy”98 into her apartment, which, conveniently, was right around the corner. Though the store was full of other unaccompanied men, she claimed that “there’s no one to help me.”99 His suspicions again stirred, he told the woman he had a meeting to attend.

In mid-February 1966 the odd events unfolding around Nader became public through an equally unlikely incident. When Nader entered what is now the Dirksen Senate Office Building for a television interview, a Capitol Police officer noticed two men following him. Police questioned the men and ordered them to leave the building. One officer, however, later mistook a Washington Post reporter for Nader. In his confusion, the officer told the reporter that Nader had been under surveillance. “There are a couple of detectives who were tailing a guy who’s been writing about auto safety,” the cop said.100

The Post subsequently ran an article about the surveillance of Nader, and other outlets published follow-ups. As the media pressure ratcheted up, General Motors’s top executives admitted in March 1966 that they’d initiated a “routine investigation” of their chief critic. The investigation, in fact, had been carried out by a team of former FBI agents, and the attorney who’d orchestrated the probe said that GM wanted “to get something, somewhere, on this guy to get him out of their hair and shut him up.”101 The story exploded into a national scandal, forced GM’s president to apologize to a panel of senators,102 and energized the already spirited effort to regulate the automobile industry. Within six months, President Lyndon Johnson had signed into law the National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act.

It was a landmark political defeat for America’s signature industry. GM, at the time, was the largest corporation in the world, employing a half million people in the United States alone. Yet on Capitol Hill, it had been bested by a single pain-in-the-ass lawyer who rallied American consumers into a powerful political force. Until then, GM and other vehicle manufacturers had been free to decide for themselves whether or not to equip cars with safety features, which they viewed primarily as selling points to attract new customers—not so different from leather seats and dashboard radios. With the passage of the National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act, the federal government wasn’t simply tightening existing oversight; as the author David Vogel pointed out, it was imposing a sweeping new supervisory regime on a business that had never been regulated by the federal government before.103 The legislation established, for the first time, rigorous national motor vehicle safety standards and resulted in innovations like headrests and shatter-resistant windshields. “The giant, fearsome, incredibly wealthy automobile industry,” wrote the journalist Elizabeth Drew, “reluctantly lumbered into the unfamiliar political arena, [and] turned out to be a paper hippopotamus.”104

How could an economic colossus like GM have been so powerless in Washington? Like the best corporate minds of their generation, the company’s leaders had for years viewed federal politics as irrelevant to their firm; they simply couldn’t comprehend how DC bureaucrats could impact their bottom line. “One of the serious problems in our industry is provinciality,” an auto executive remarked at the time. “The sun rises in Dearborn and sets in Detroit.”105 As such, they’d seen little reason to invest in political influence. Indeed, when Nader’s auto safety campaign got under way, GM—the very symbol of American industrial conquest—did not have a single lobbyist in the nation’s capital.106

It was an unfortunate time for America’s business establishment to lack political strength. The National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act was, as it turned out, the opening salvo in what would become a historic expansion of federal authority over corporate behavior.107 From 1965 to 1977, Congress passed, and the president signed, forty-four major regulatory bills108 that imposed strict constraints on how business executives could build their products, manage their employees, and treat the environment. Between 1970 and 1975, spending by social regulatory agencies nearly tripled to $4.3 billion,109 while the size of the Federal Register—which details the country’s laws and regulations—exploded from twenty thousand pages to sixty thousand.110 Vigorous new bureaucracies, such as the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, the Environmental Protection Agency, and the US Consumer Product Safety Commission, brought an unprecedented level of federal scrutiny into boardrooms and factories. This wave of legislation was, David Vogel observed, an extension of the Great Society’s social welfare objectives into the commercial sector, and it structurally changed the government’s role in the economy. Officials in Washington were now telling soup manufacturers how to label their ingredients on cans, determining how banks could explain loan terms to borrowers, deciding which pieces of equipment coal executives could install in their mines, and choosing which products could be advertised on television and the radio. (Alcohol, yes; tobacco, no.111) “The government is now present,” the editors of Fortune magazine wrote, “at every major business meeting.”112

Unlike the New Deal, this period of government growth didn’t spring from a specific crisis; it was triggered by revelations about a range of systemic harms that accompanied the ascent of corporate capitalism. Nader’s research into GM helped jump-start the public interest movement, while Rachel Carson’s 1962 book about the dangers of the pesticide DDT (dichloro-diphenyl-trichloroethane), Silent Spring, energized environmental advocates. The public interest and environmental movements swelled into powerful political crusades, disrupting the balance of power that corporations had achieved with the labor unions and the state. Though neither effort had much of a following to speak of in the 1950s, within a decade and a half, Washington was home to more than a hundred public interest groups, and between 1970 and 1971, the country’s three leading environmental organizations saw their memberships swell by a third.113 Alongside their allies in the labor movement, public interest and environmental advocates served as the organizational muscle behind the effort to build out the regulatory state, leading grassroots campaigns, rallies, and other initiatives to increase the government’s role in the economy. But the advocates couldn’t realize their political agenda on their own. They needed allies on Capitol Hill, and they found a crucial partner who shared similar aims in Louisiana congressman Hale Boggs.



In October of 1972, Hale Boggs climbed atop the podium on the House floor to deliver what would turn out to be one of his final sets of formal remarks. It was Hale’s duty to address the House chamber at the end of each year to celebrate the body’s most significant achievements, and on this day, he lauded his fellow lawmakers for their commitment to environmental protection. “If there is one area in which this Congress can take a greater measure of pride than another,” he said, “it lies here.” Of particular significance, Hale noted, was the passage of the National Environmental Data System Act, which enhanced the sharing of environmental research; the Pesticide Control Act, which regulated the production and sale of potentially harmful pesticides; and the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, which authorized the large-scale funding of clean water programs. “The American people have awakened to the environmental dangers from abuse and neglect,” Hale told his colleagues. “We in Congress, sharing that awareness and empowered to protect the general welfare, have responded with an outpouring of legislation over the past few years.” Just a few days later, Hale’s plane disappeared over the Alaskan wilderness.

During his more than a quarter century in Congress, Boggs often pressed his fellow lawmakers to shield the vulnerable elements of our nation—be it factory workers in Detroit or rivers in Montana—from the destructive power of corporate capitalism. In 1966, for example, he urged his colleagues to pass legislation that would have expanded the federal minimum wage to include an additional eight million Americans. This “is a bill that affects the people, affects human beings, affects families,” Hale said on the House floor as lawmakers prepared to vote on it. “It is a minimum bill in a society described as an affluent society. I would hope this House will accept this conference report.” In 1969, he touted the Federal Coal Mine Health and Safety Act, saying that by “setting limits on the amount of coal dust permitted in a mine, we have curtailed the threat of black lung disease, incurable and a major cause of death.” On another occasion, he extolled the Consumer Product Safety Act, the Auto Safety Act, and the Public Health Cigarette Smoking Act.

More significant than Hale’s advocacy for any individual bill, though, was his role in the broader, decadelong effort to expand the federal government’s authority. At the time, power in Congress was held mostly by party leaders who took the lead in writing the nation’s laws. But those leaders needed rank-and-file lawmakers to vote in large numbers in support. As House majority whip, it was Hale’s job to make sure they did. He was responsible for much of the vote counting, arm-twisting, and behind-the-scenes horse trading needed to realize this unprecedented increase in federal power over corporations. David Bunn, a former member of President Johnson’s congressional liaison team, described Hale’s contribution to the effort as even more critical than the House Speaker’s. “It was really Hale Boggs,” Bunn recalled, “who produced the votes not only in terms of getting people to the floor but also in pointing out to them all the reasons why they should support the president’s program.”114 Said congressional aide Richard Rivers, “He would move through the members in the chamber like a lion through high grass.”115

While Hale pushed Congress to increase the government’s authority over corporations, his son, Tommy, was doing the exact opposite. After graduating from law school and leaving the White House in 1966, Tommy had no trouble breaking into Washington’s legal community. Thanks to his father’s connections, he had his pick of the city’s top law offices; in all, seventeen different firms offered to hire him. But it was a little-known, five-lawyer operation that Tommy found most appealing.

Just four years earlier, a former CIA agent named Jim Patton Jr. had left the city’s most esteemed white-shoe firm, Covington & Burling, to launch his own outfit focused on international law. In its early days, Barco, Cook, Patton & Blow provided advice to American companies on their overseas investments. But in the mid-1960s Patton had watched a client’s business deal collapse after a competing company pulled strings in Washington and convinced the Export-Import Bank of the United States to withdraw its support. In the deal’s implosion, Patton saw an opportunity. He went searching for a different type of legal mind; someone just as comfortable in a congressman’s office as they were in a law library. A contact on Capitol Hill gave him Tommy Boggs’s name.116

This combination of law and policy was perfectly suited for Tommy, and the idea of growing a small firm excited him. But when he told his father his decision, Hale was furious.

“It doesn’t make any sense,” Hale told him. “You [should] practice law with a major firm in town!”117

After making partner, Tommy registered as a lobbyist in 1968 and began working to shield businesses from the onslaught of new regulations that his father was helping to orchestrate. Among his earliest clients was a New Jersey chemical firm that needed assistance managing the Washington bureaucracy and an association of yacht manufacturers that was worried about an onerous new water pollution bill. Tommy approached the US secretary of the interior about tariff issues on behalf of petrochemical companies, and he went to Congress to oppose import quotas for Central American sugar producers.118 Initially, his influence-peddling efforts weren’t terribly aggressive, due in part to his reluctance to use his family connections. “I was very skittish about lobbying when he was there,” Tommy said. “I never represented Louisiana clients.”

Such apprehensions were not unique to the rookie lobbyist. At the time, the business establishment was largely defenseless against the political power of unions, environmentalists, and public interest advocates. While industry had begun to build out its influence-peddling capabilities, corporations and business groups were still disorganized and ineffective, and they’d responded to the new legislation with confusion and apathy. “The truth is,” GM CEO Thomas Murphy told an audience of other top executives, “we have been clobbered.”119

At the root of this historic expansion of federal regulatory authority was a central faith—on the part of the public, consumer advocates, politicians, and even corporations themselves—that the commercial sector could continue to churn out strong profits even in the face of additional expenses.120 But as the new regulations began touching every corner of the economy, the costs of compliance became increasingly onerous. Business spending to meet the new air pollution requirements, for instance, surged by 150 percent from 1970 to 1974. That same year, manufacturing firms allocated nearly 11 percent of their capital expenses to pollution controls and safety equipment, a nearly threefold jump from 1969. In other industries, such spending accounted for more than 20 percent of capital budgets.121

Higher regulatory costs were just one of the frustrations facing business executives. During the social upheaval of the 1960s, the public began to sour on corporate America; from 1968 to 1970, the share of citizens who agreed with the statement “Business tries to strike a fair balance between profits and the interest of the public” plunged from 70 percent to 33 percent.122 On college campuses, students increasingly rejected careers on the corporate ladder, which many came to view as conformist, profit obsessed, and indifferent to the plight of the poor. “The field of business is a great wasteland,” one student told researchers at Young & Rubicam, the New York–based marketing giant, “inhabited by men of narrow horizons and personal interest, where anticreativity and anti-idealism is the rule and not the exception.”123 In 1966 no more than 18 percent of Stanford University undergraduates planned to launch careers in business. At Princeton University, only 7 percent of seniors intended to take corporate jobs.124

As the anti–Vietnam War movement escalated, this distrust of corporations turned hostile. “Why… do we continue to demonstrate in Washington as if the core of the problem lay there?” asked the activist Staughton Lynd. “We need to find ways to lay siege to corporations.”125 In the late 1960s, university students organized 183 protests aimed at banning Dow Chemical, which mass-produced the bomb ingredient napalm, from recruiting on campus.126 “In frequency and consistency of attack,” a Dow spokesman said at the time, “this is a record unmatched over the past two years even by recruiters for the US armed forces.”127 The 1970 annual meeting of Honeywell Corp., which manufactured fragmentation bombs, was broken up after only fourteen minutes when demonstrators stormed the conference room and shouted down its president. Security personnel used mace to disperse the activists.128

In 1970 and 1971, protestors damaged at least thirty-nine Bank of America branches across the United States, using explosive devices at twenty-two locations and firebombs or arson at another seventeen.129 Small bombs were detonated at the corporate headquarters of IBM, in Armonk, New York, and Mobil Oil Corp., in Irving, Texas.130 Following a speech by an antiwar activist on the campus of the University of California at Santa Barbara in 1971, a mob of students set fire to a nearby Bank of America branch. “It was,” said one student, “the biggest capitalist thing around.”131

Of greater concern to executives, however, was the sharp deterioration of business conditions. In the mid-1970s the foundation of the economic boom began to wobble.132 After emerging from the rubble of World War II, manufacturers in Germany and Japan started outcompeting American firms; by 1979, for example, foreign automobile companies accounted for one-fifth of all car sales in the United States.133 More broadly, the American share of the world’s economy was shrinking—and fast—nose-diving from roughly 40 percent in 1950 to 22 percent by 1980.134 When the economy tipped into recession in 1973, concern turned to panic, as a collection of Middle East nations suspended the export of oil to the United States in retaliation for America’s backing of Israel in the Yom Kippur War.135 Gasoline prices soared, cars backed up for blocks outside fueling stations, and an already troubling rise in consumer prices ballooned into double-digit inflation. The American economy had become submerged in “stagflation,” a combination of slowing growth and rising inflation so pernicious that many economists didn’t believe it could actually occur.

Not since the Great Depression had America’s business leaders felt so helpless.136 Amid a confounding economic crisis, corporate profits dropped by more than one-third between the mid-1960s and mid-1970s.137 As inflation cut into paychecks, labor unions went on strike to demand higher wages, upending the tense equilibrium between management and labor. Resentment of business was at the heart of the cultural zeitgeist, and the government was expanding its authority over corporations more aggressively than ever before. “At this rate, business can soon expect support from the environmentalists,” one executive quipped. “We can get them to put the corporation on the endangered species list.”138

Another businessman put it differently: “The American capitalist system is confronting its darkest hour.”139



Those close to Tommy and Hale often remarked at the similarities between the two men. “The physical resemblance is startling,” said Tommy’s wife, Barbara. In addition, Tommy seemed to unconsciously adopt many of his father’s mannerisms, such as rocking the podium back and forth while delivering a speech. When it came to the important things, Hale always turned to Tommy for help. And in 1970, after the announcement of House Speaker John McCormack’s retirement led to a vacancy in the majority leader post, father and son teamed up for a campaign to elect Hale to the position. The congressman needed the support of more than half of the Democratic caucus, and Tommy regularly came by Hale’s office to help with the effort. He reached out to other lawmakers and tabulated the number of expected votes for and against his father.140 Victory was far from assured, given the gossip and bad headlines that had been swirling around Hale of late.

About a year earlier, the FBI had opened a bribery and corruption probe involving the elder Boggs. Agents were looking into allegations that Hale had authorized a Baltimore builder, Victor Frenkil, to collect $5 million in cost overruns on a congressional parking garage project in return for favors worth more than $20,000 for Boggs.141 Frenkil was friendly with the Boggs family; he’d mingled with Hale and Lindy at the Preakness Stakes horse race in Baltimore, and he’d attended at least one garden party at their home. More suspiciously, Frenkil’s company had done a renovation of the Boggs’s kitchen valued at $48,083 but charged the congressman only $21,000.142 Tommy sat with his father through some of his FBI interviews. Though Nixon’s Department of Justice ultimately decided against an indictment, details from their confidential investigation were leaked to the newspapers, casting a pall of embarrassment over the Boggs family and igniting inside Hale a bitter resentment of the FBI’s longtime director, J. Edgar Hoover.

More troubling still were the whispers, then made only in private and behind closed doors, of what one congressman described as Hale’s “bizarre and erratic behavior.”143 Colleagues began to notice that Hale seemed exhausted, and his face looked fleshy. Once one of Capitol Hill’s most persuasive orators, his speeches became rambling and incoherent. Tommy admitted later that besides helping with the leadership campaign, there was another reason he was spending so much time in his father’s office, “babysitting.”144 As he recalled, “When he was in a manic mood, I’d just hang around him.”

In the end, Hale’s close relationships with influential Big City Democrats—such as his good friend Tip O’Neill Jr., a long-serving Democratic Speaker of the House from Boston—handed him the election despite simmering questions about his fitness for the role.145 After his promotion to majority leader, though, his conduct worsened. In March 1971, at the white-tie-and-tails dinner for Washington’s exclusive and all-male Gridiron Club, Hale got into a drunken brawl with a former congressman in the men’s bathroom. The episode left him bloodied and mumbling to himself on the bathroom floor.146 Later, at a banquet in Florida, he was so intoxicated and belligerent that he had to be restrained by police and locked out of the ballroom.

“Gestapo!” the majority leader yelled. “Storm troopers!”147

There was a rumor about him screaming in a senator’s face during a dinner party, and there was gossip about a heated altercation with a congressman at the Madison Hotel. It got so bad that Speaker Albert stopped taking trips outside of the Beltway for fear of what might happen if Hale were left alone to run the House.148 Then, in April 1971, Hale’s emotional decline burst into public view, when he took to the House floor and—still smarting from the FBI’s investigation—accused J. Edgar Hoover of tapping lawmakers’ phones. “The time has come,” Hale told lawmakers, “to ask for the resignation of Mr. Hoover.”149

The accusation, which Hale could never substantiate, became front-page news, alarming elected officials on both ends of Pennsylvania Avenue. President Richard Nixon called Hale’s Republican counterpart, House minority leader and future president Gerald Ford, to ask, “What’s the matter with your opposite number?”

“He’s nuts,” Ford replied.

“My God,” Nixon said. “He’s on the sauce, isn’t that it?”

“I’m afraid that’s right.”

“Or he’s crazy?”150

Losing confidence in the majority leader, the president stopped sharing with Hale the confidential information he provided to other congressional leaders. Meanwhile, inside the Democratic caucus, there was chatter about stripping Hale of his leadership duties. With his career in jeopardy, Hale finally listened to his family and friends and sought help. He met with doctors at the Bethesda Naval Hospital to address his drinking problem, and he began taking a medication that federal regulators had recently approved for the treatment of manic depression, lithium.151 The drug improved Hale’s mental state, and, while he continued to drink heavily, he behaved better in public. In October 1972, when Hale appeared on the House floor to deliver his closing remarks for the congressional session, his well-being and career were intact once again. “It is time to say farewell to more than fifty of our colleagues,” Hale said, “who will not be returning to these halls for the Ninety-Third Congress.”152

Soon after, Hale left Washington for a short campaign trip to Alaska.



The evening after Hale went missing, the entire Boggs family traveled to Elmendorf Air Force Base, in Anchorage, where the search was being coordinated. Defense Secretary Melvin Laird, a family friend, committed all available resources to the effort. As planes, boats, divers, and mountaineers scoured a 325,000-square-mile grid of the Alaskan backcountry, the Boggs family attended mass each morning and, when permitted, went out looking for Hale themselves. Family members trudged along the icy mountain ranges where the aircraft was believed to have gone down, and Lindy circled the tundra in a search plane flown by a Civil Air Patrol pilot.153 Psychics reached out to offer their assessments; one told Tommy’s wife that Hale was alive on a mountaintop with a broken leg and had just days to live. Tommy, meanwhile, used his inside knowledge of Washington to aid the effort: he persuaded the military officials in charge of the search to deploy the Lockheed SR-71 Blackbird,154 a high-altitude spy plane whose existence was still a state secret. The massive search-and-rescue effort eventually turned up a World War II–era plane that had been lost for decades. But there was no sign of Hale. After days passed without progress, the family returned to Washington, heartbroken.

The effort was called off the day after Thanksgiving155—about a month after Hale’s disappearance—and he was officially declared dead five weeks later.156 Vice President Spiro Agnew, First Lady Patricia Nixon, Lyndon and Lady Bird Johnson, and Senator Hubert Humphrey of Minnesota were among the mourners who gathered at Saint Louis Cathedral in New Orleans to say good-bye.157 For weeks, Tommy was despondent. “I was mad,” he recalled later. “[I] thought it was unfair. People forget he was still very young; just fifty-eight years old.”

Boggs talked to colleagues about leaving Washington and heading back to Louisiana.158 It was only after Lindy decided to run for Hale’s seat in Congress that his gloom began to lift. Remarkably, even though he was missing and thought to be dead at the time, Hale Boggs had won his race in November 1972. Later, in a special election, New Orleans voters chose Lindy to serve in her late husband’s congressional seat.

The development took Tommy’s mind off the tragedy. He soon turned back to his work and recommitted himself to growing his lobbying practice. Before long, the partners were so pleased with his effort that they added his name to the firm;159 it would eventually come to be known simply as Patton Boggs.

Meanwhile, as Tommy continued to grieve, other events were taking place in and around Washington that would soon enable the young lobbyist to have a bigger impact on American policy than even his late father had.


	
I. In 2010 Stevens would die in a plane crash in Alaska himself.
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Summer 1971

Richmond, Virginia

Lewis Powell was growing alarmed. From his home in Virginia’s historic capital city, located 110 miles south of Washington, the sixty-four-year-old corporate lawyer and Harvard Law School graduate had been closely following the turmoil in corporate America. He’d cut out and saved op-eds in the local newspaper, the Richmond Times-Dispatch, which noted that nearly half of the students surveyed at a dozen American universities supported the socialization of key American industries, according to Kim Phillips-Fein’s 2009 book Invisible Hands. Powell read an article in New York magazine about the public’s growing skepticism of concentrated wealth and power. And in the financial news publication Barron’s, he’d seen that a sinister-sounding organization, the Socialist Scholars Conference, had recently met in New York City.1

After three decades of representing commercial firms in court, Powell had emerged as a distinguished member of Richmond’s business establishment. He served on the boards of a handful of major corporations, such as the tobacco giant Philip Morris, and he’d once been president of the American Bar Association. As a proponent of unfettered capitalism, he considered the free market to be Washington’s best tool for growing the economy and raising the standard of living. He viewed the developments he saw in the news as a fundamental threat to the country’s prosperity.2

Powell’s old friend and neighbor, a department store owner named Eugene B. Sydnor Jr., shared his concerns. He’d once sent Powell a Wall Street Journal editorial calling on GM executives to respond more forcefully to Ralph Nader’s claims.3 In addition to running his company, Sydnor was also a director of the oldest corporate advocacy group in Washington. Headquartered in a handsome Beaux Arts building situated directly across from the White House, the US Chamber of Commerce was founded in 1912 in response to President William Howard Taft’s call for a new advocacy group “that could speak with authority for the interests of business.”4 Over the ensuing decades, however, the Chamber was unable to staunch the flood of costly new regulations, and Sydnor had grown concerned about the business community’s weakness in Washington. Eventually he asked Powell to draft an analysis of what corporate executives could do to confront the many challenges they faced.5 In August 1971 Powell delivered a thirty-one-page document—labeled “Confidential Memorandum”—to Sydnor. He titled it “Attack on American Free Enterprise System.”6

American capitalism, Powell began, has been the subject of criticism since the founding of the republic. “But what now concerns us is quite new,” he wrote. “We are not dealing with episodic or isolated attacks from a relatively few extremists or even from the minority Socialist cadre. Rather, the assault on the enterprise system is broadly based and consistently pursued.” Indeed, he continued, some of the harshest criticism has been leveled by “respectable elements of society,” including college students, journalists, pastors, intellectuals, artists, and politicians.

Rather than fighting back, he noted, the business community has been content to ignore or appease its detractors. “They have shown little stomach for hard-nose contest with their critics, and little skill in effective intellectual and philosophical debate.” In some ways, the flaccid response was understandable; after all, businessmen spend their days focusing on the management of their companies, and they’ve never been “trained or equipped to conduct guerrilla warfare with those who propagandize against the system.” But as the threats to corporate capitalism multiplied, Powell believed that executives could no longer afford to remain passive. “The time has come—indeed, it is long overdue—for the wisdom, ingenuity, and resources of American business to be marshaled against those who would destroy it.”

What, exactly, should executives do? “The overriding first need is for businessmen to recognize that the ultimate issue may be survival—survival of what we call the free enterprise system.” To save capitalism from extinction, Powell urged corporate executives to expand their responsibilities beyond their traditional duties of selling products and growing profits. “If our system is to survive, top management must be equally concerned with protecting and preserving the system itself.” Action by individual corporations wouldn’t be sufficient to protect against these threats. “Strength lies in organization, in careful long-range planning and implementation, in consistency of action over an indefinite period of years, in the scale of financing available only through joint effort.”

Powell offered a list of suggestions for how businesses could work together to improve the standing of capitalism: create a panel of pro-business scholars to review and critique university textbooks in the hopes of presenting students with a more favorable perspective of private enterprise; closely monitor television shows and alert federal regulators and journalists to programming that unfairly or inaccurately criticizes business; establish a community of pro-business intellectuals who lecture and publish articles on the benefits of capitalism. At its core, though, Powell’s memo was a plea to America’s corporate titans to ramp up their political activities.

“Business has been the favorite whipping-boy of many politicians for many years,” he wrote. “As every business executive knows, few elements of American society today have as little influence in government as the American businessman, the corporation, or even the millions of corporate stockholders.” In order to change this, business leaders should study the legislative successes of the labor, environmental, and consumer movements. “This is the lesson that political power is necessary; that such power must be assidously [sic] cultivated; and that when necessary, it must be used aggressively and with determination—without embarrassment and without the reluctance which has been so characteristic of American business.” He continued, “There should be no hesitation to attack the Naders,” or others “who openly seek destruction of the system. There should not be the slightest hesitation to press vigorously in all political arenas for support of the enterprise system. Nor should there be reluctance to penalize politically those who oppose it,” according to the memo.

“It is time for American business—which has demonstrated the greatest capacity in all history to produce and to influence consumer decisions—to apply its great talents vigorously to the preservation of the system itself.”

Though other businessmen had made similar arguments in the past, the Powell Memo, as it came to be known, represented the most urgent, articulate, and enduring expression of the corporate establishment’s fears. It drew the attention of executives at companies large and small,7 especially after Powell was sworn in as a Supreme Court justice in 1972. Key business leaders who read the document later credited it for sparking their political awakening. Inside the Chamber of Commerce, it had an immediate impact: in 1972 the organization set up a task force dedicated to turning Powell’s call to arms into a blueprint for accumulating political influence.8 Based on the recommendations of the task force, as well as the suggestions of other executives, the Chamber targeted its attention on four distinct areas: scholarship, campaign finance, indirect lobbying, and direct lobbying. And it was by building institutional capacity in these four areas that America’s corporate establishment would, before the decade was through, begin its ascent to power in Washington.9

Among the Chamber’s first initiatives was to create its own think tank, the National Chamber Foundation, to carry out and publish academic and other research on public policy matters from industry’s perspective.10 Executives had for years blamed liberal college faculties for fomenting antibusiness sentiment. The charge wasn’t completely meritless; at the time, the political views of social science professors at the nation’s top universities were notably more liberal than those of the general public.11 As a result, corporations and their allies lacked the research machinery to substantiate their pro-business ideology. “It takes about twenty years for a research paper at Harvard to become a law,” Citibank CEO Walter Wriston said. “There weren’t any people feeding the intellectual argument on the other side.”12

Outside of the Chamber, the memo inspired other wealthy businessmen to invest in pro-business scholarship. The document “stirred”13 Joseph Coors Sr., of the beer brewing empire, and in 1973 he funded the creation of the Heritage Foundation,14 a conservative think tank whose annual budget would grow to $5.2 million within a decade.15 In a letter to the president of the American Enterprise Institute, another Washington-based conservative think tank, the chemical and munitions magnate John M. Olin said, “The Powell Memorandum gives a reason for a well-organized effort to reestablish the validity and importance of the American free enterprise system.”16 Olin’s foundation endowed a chair at AEI,17 and its budget surged by a factor of 10 during the 1970s. More broadly, neoconservative journalist William Kristol urged corporations to become more activist in their charitable donations, calling it “absurd”18 for businesses to donate money to universities, foundations, or charitable causes with anticapitalist views. William Simon, a conservative businessman and former Treasury secretary, argued in his 1978 book, A Time for Truth, that “American business was financing the destruction of free enterprise,” as he beseeched corporations to instead “funnel desperately needed funds to scholars, social scientists, writers, and journalists who understand the relationship between political and economic liberty.”19

The Powell Memo task force also recommended that the Chamber make donations to the Business-Industry Political Action Committee (BIPAC), a nonpartisan group founded in 1963 to support pro-business congressional candidates. Though still too skittish to involve itself directly in elections, the Chamber moved to allocate $25,000 to an arm of BIPAC that educated the public about the democratic process without funding specific candidates.20 Over time, though, leaders of the Chamber and other corporate interests became increasingly willing to back individual candidates financially. While corporations were barred by law from donating money directly to members of Congress, they were permitted to route cash to political candidates through separate fund-raising entities known as political action committees. These PACs, as they’re called, were funded by voluntary contributions from business executives and senior-level employees. In the aftermath of a 1975 decision by the Federal Election Commission that officially allowed companies to form them,21 PACs became the preferred campaign financing vehicle for the corporate establishment. Between 1974 and 1978, the number of corporate PACs skyrocketed from 89 to 784,22 and in the 1976 congressional elections, corporations outspent labor unions for the first time in modern American history.23 By 1980, the number of corporate PACs had reached nearly 2,000, as Republicans and Democrats alike were growing increasingly dependent on this pipeline of campaign cash.

The Chamber also enhanced its indirect lobbying capabilities by launching another new organization, Citizens Choice,24 to marshal support from allies out in the states. Through a monthly newsletter, a toll-free hotline, and occasional “action alerts,” Citizens Choice staffers worked to convince local business leaders and their employees to contact their congressmen on behalf of the Chamber during key legislative battles.25 Here again, corporations were reading from their rivals’ playbooks. Both the public interest and environmental movements had relied on grassroots tactics—energizing ordinary Americans to pressure their representatives—to realize their political objectives. As the decade came to a close, though, it was corporations that were making the most effective use of these strategies.26

Finally, in response to the Powell Memo, the Chamber changed its leadership structure in order to improve its direct lobbying capacity; instead of rotating in various company executives for one-year terms as leader, the board voted to hire the organization’s first-ever permanent, full-time president.27 The decision came as trade associations throughout the country began redeploying resources to Washington in an effort to counter the legislative successes of unions, consumer advocates, and environmentalists. In 1972, for example, the National Association of Manufacturers announced plans to move its headquarters28 from New York City to the nation’s capital. In making the announcement, NAM’s chairman, Burt Raynes, said that the group had been headquartered in New York for nearly a hundred years because it had considered the city to be the center of American commerce. “But the thing that affects business most today is government,” Raynes wrote. “The interrelationship of business with business is no longer so important as the interrelationship of business with government.”29

All of a sudden, the same corporate CEOs who had previously avoided Washington at all costs were diving into the political process. “If you don’t know your senators on a first-name basis,” one executive remarked at the time, “you’re not doing an adequate job for your stockholders.”30 In 1972, leaders of GE and Alcoa helped launch the Business Roundtable, an organization made up of corporate CEOs who traveled to Washington to personally lobby lawmakers during legislative battles. By the end of the decade, the group represented more than half of the two hundred largest firms in the country.31 As Bryce Harlow, a Procter & Gamble lobbyist who helped form the new organization, said: “We had to prevent business from being rolled up and put in the trash by Congress.”32 Meanwhile, as corporate trade associations strengthened themselves from the inside, CEOs also sought help from another source of power in Washington: political influencers.

But some lobbyists, of course, were more useful than others.



By the mid-1970s, Tommy Boggs was occupying a unique space in Washington’s legal community. Conventional corporate attorneys relied solely on the filing of lawsuits and petitioning regulatory agencies to address their clients’ concerns. But Tommy wasn’t just a lawyer, he was also a lobbyist. And, as such, he took a wholly different approach to the law. Tommy recognized that the judiciary wasn’t the only branch of government that businesses could turn to for redress. If an executive had the assistance of the right fixer—someone who knew how Washington really worked—he could also get help from officials in the executive branch or congressmen in the legislative branch.

“Patton Boggs was built on the idea that the law can be changed to achieve client objectives,” the firm wrote later in promotional materials. “We will work with you to develop solutions that are not limited by conventional legal concepts—in the belief that our wider focus will help you find answers others might overlook.” The firm continued, “We see the law as a dynamic process, not as immutable rules and procedures.”33

Tommy put it more succinctly. “Why litigate, when you can legislate?”

If the beleaguered business community was going to reassert its authority in Washington, it needed a political influencer who could navigate the recent changes to the structure of Congress. And now it had its man. Some five years after the disappearance of his father’s plane, a more experienced and confident Tommy Boggs found himself at the center of a legislative fight that would serve as the tip of the spear in corporate America’s efforts to rein in the reach of the government—a fight that would help alter the balance of power in American politics.

In 1977, Ralph Nader, who by then had emerged as the most renowned consumer advocate in America, gave President Jimmy Carter a suggestion as to who should head Washington’s marquee consumer protection agency, the Federal Trade Commission.34 During his thirteen-year career on Capitol Hill, Michael Pertschuk had earned a reputation as a powerful Senate aide and a committed consumer advocate. From his desk in the Senate Commerce Committee, he’d helped craft many of the consumer safeguards that Washington had realized over the prior decade, from the legislation requiring warning labels on cigarettes to the launch of the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. Lawmakers referred to him as “the 101st senator.”35 At Nader’s recommendation, the president nominated Pertschuk for the post,36 and, during a White House ceremony in April 1977, Supreme Court Justice William Brennan Jr. swore him in as the forty-fourth chairman of the FTC.

Right away, Pertschuk aroused the business community’s suspicions. He wasn’t your typical Washington bureaucrat. Born in London, Pertschuk preferred turtleneck sweaters over starched white shirts and dark blue suits. And although he was already among the least affluent officials ever to lead the agency, he had no plans to cash in on his government service. He insisted that when his FTC tenure was over, he wouldn’t scurry over to a big Washington law firm and start representing corporations before the agency,37 like many of his predecessors had done. For business leaders, however, Pertschuk’s most alarming quality was his ambition. Shortly after starting at the agency, he pledged to make it “the best public interest law firm in the country.”38

Pertschuk had arrived at a decisive point in the FTC’s history. The agency had been founded more than sixty years prior, following the breakup of John D. Rockefeller’s Standard Oil monopoly, as a Progressive Era bulwark against corporate abuse. President Woodrow Wilson signed the Federal Trade Commission Act in 1914, establishing a regulatory body and law enforcement agency with a broad mandate to protect Americans from unfair business practices. By the early 1960s, though, the FTC’s unwillingness to exercise its consumer protection authority had made it the target of ridicule. A report from Ralph Nader and a study from the American Bar Association—compiled at President Nixon’s request—lambasted the FTC as complacent, rudderless, and controlled by the very businesses it was supposed to regulate. Jokes about the agency’s irrelevance began circulating in Washington: What are the three museums on Pennsylvania Avenue? The National Gallery of Art, the National Archives, and the Federal Trade Commission. Other critics dismissed the agency as “the little old lady of Pennsylvania Avenue.”39

During the late 1960s and early 1970s, as consumer protection issues captured Washington’s attention, the agency reclaimed its spine with the support of both Democrats and Republicans. A succession of chairmen reorganized the FTC’s structure and reinvigorated its mission. They cleared out lethargic staffers and hired a contingent of eager, young attorneys and economists who viewed FTC service as a way to make a real difference in the lives of ordinary Americans. In 1975 and 1976, after Congress granted the FTC more authority to review corporate mergers and crack down on unfair and deceptive business practices, the agency embarked on a sweeping rule-making push to impose new consumer protection requirements on a variety of products and associated sales practices that, in many cases, had never been federally regulated before, including: mobile homes, eyeglasses, used cars, hearing aids, health spas, funeral homes, gas station lotteries, protein supplements, and cellular plastics.40 By the late 1970s, this once-laughed-at coterie of lawyers and policy wonks was pursuing one of the most aggressive regulatory agendas in Washington. When Pertschuk took charge, the FTC became even more assertive.

Early in his tenure, Pertschuk grew concerned about the risks of obesity, tooth decay, and other long-term negative health effects that sugary foods posed to children. He directed his indignation at the corporate producers of cereals and candy bars who, he argued, targeted children with television commercials designed specifically to hook them on sugar. Their still-developing brains, he argued, weren’t capable of telling the difference between advice from an adult and a sales pitch from a multinational conglomerate. “Commercial exploitation of children,” Pertschuk told the audience at the Action for Children’s Television Conference, “is repugnant in a civilized society.” In the fall of 1977 his staff began working on a rule that would limit food producers’ ability to advertise directly to children on television,41 and Pertschuk moved to expedite the proposal so that it could be implemented without the typical delays.

The proposal jeopardized hundreds of millions of dollars in sales for food manufacturers and advertising revenues for broadcasters. A decade earlier, a CEO facing a similar threat might have thrown up his hands and swallowed the loss. But with corporate profits declining and regulatory costs rising, executives chose to fight back. As one Washington lawyer put it at the time, Pertschuk’s effort to regulate children’s advertising “awoke a sleeping giant.”42

It was Tommy Boggs who united rival companies and disjointed business interests into a single, integrated campaign to kill the proposal, as detailed in Rick Perlstein’s 2020 book Reaganland.43 One of his clients, Mars Inc.—the maker of M&M’s, Snickers, and Milky Way candies—stood to lose big if the rule took effect. So, Tommy reached out to other affected firms and built a coalition of thirty-two different television networks, food manufacturers, and other companies to lobby against the proposed rule. Together, the firms raised a war chest of as much as $30 million—a sum roughly equal to half of the FTC’s annual budget.44 Next, in an effort to shape the public debate surrounding the proposal, he sent materials outlining the companies’ complaints to Meg Greenfield, the top editorial page editor at the Washington Post.45 Despite the Post’s liberal tradition, it proved to be an ingenious maneuver. On March 1, 1978, Washington’s newspaper of record, which was read diligently by the city’s top decision-makers, published a searing editorial titled “The FTC as National Nanny.”

“So the proposal, in reality, is designed to protect children from the weakness of their parents—and parents from the wailing insistence of their children,” the Post declared.46 “That, traditionally, is one of the roles of a governess—if you can afford one. It is not the proper role of government.”

That two-word phrase—“National Nanny”—proved devastating. Corporate lobbyists would soon deploy “National Nanny” as a slogan not just to discredit the children’s advertising rule, but also to delegitimize federal regulation more broadly. “Consumer advocates and regulators,” Pertschuk lamented in a 1981 lecture to the University of California at Berkeley business school, “had lost our hold on the symbols of the debate.” He continued, “Now it was the Commission—not amoral business—that allegedly threatened to undermine the moral fiber and authority of the family.”47 More significantly, the idea of a National Nanny crystalized in the minds of lawmakers and voters a growing suspicion that Washington’s incursion into the economy had extended too far and that, on account of this overreach, government officials were no longer helping to solve the problems associated with corporate capitalism. Instead, the public came to view Washington’s regulatory zeal as a root cause of the bankruptcies, layoffs, and inflationary spiral that were ravaging the country. “I need not tell you,” Pertschuk admitted, “how politically wounding the Washington Post’s ‘National Nanny’ editorial was.”48

After using the media to shift the public debate in his client’s favor, Tommy was ready to attack the proposal itself. It was here that his proficiency in the inner workings of Washington proved most valuable. The distribution of political power had changed dramatically over the previous few years. For most of American history, real political power was concentrated in the hands of a select few elected officials: the president, the Senate majority leader, the Speaker of the House, and a small number of congressional committee chairmen. But in the aftermath of Nixon’s Watergate scandal, lawmakers in the mid-1970s passed a series of reforms that served to decentralize this power.49 Among other things, the measures added a raft of new committees and subcommittees to Congress, which drastically increased the number of elected officials with meaningful authority over public policy decisions. By 1979, for example, every Democratic senator except one chaired a committee or a subcommittee.50 Each of these chairmen had tremendous control over the rules and regulations for the various industries under his or her jurisdiction.

The development brought to an end the masters-of-the-universe era of lobbying, when insiders such as Tommy “the Cork” Corcoran and Clark Clifford could shape federal actions with a single phone call.51 “Instead of ten committee chairmen,” Tommy explained, “you now have seventy people running the House and a hundred people running the Senate. In the past, a lobbyist needed to only know about ten people on the House side. He could call the Speaker of the House or Sherman Adams [an aide to President Dwight D. Eisenhower] at the White House and say, ‘Help me.’ All that has changed as power has dispersed.”52 With so many different members of Congress now in charge of various committees and subcommittees, effective lobbyists needed to reach lawmakers up and down the congressional food chain. On top of that, they had to have a detailed understanding of the tedious, arcane process by which legislation moves through Capitol Hill. As Tommy himself put it, instead of requiring just one well-connected lobbyist, “now you need a law firm to use the whole system.” As a result, Tommy’s lawyer-lobbyist model soon became the most effective vehicle for political influence. But the decentralization of federal power also created new opportunities for influence peddlers, since there were now many more lawmakers whom lobbyists could call upon for assistance in killing undesirable pieces of legislation.

In this new power structure of Washington, Boggs found his opening to tank the FTC’s proposal. Since the children’s advertising rule hadn’t been formally enacted, he could neither challenge it in court nor block it in Congress. There was, however, the question of funding. In order for the FTC to carry out the proposal, it needed to spend money and resources to implement it. So, Boggs went to the congressional committees that controlled the agency’s funding and persuaded them to prohibit the FTC from spending any money to enforce the rule. It was the first time a lobbyist had thought to use the congressional appropriations process to subvert an agency’s rule-making authority—and it worked spectacularly. Without the necessary funding, the FTC’s proposal died right there in Congress.53

Still, for the Federal Trade Commission’s enemies in the food manufacturing and broadcasting industries, a single, quiet political victory wouldn’t do. They resolved to make an example out of the do-gooder agency and its meddling chairman. So, even though the FTC was not allowed to implement the children’s advertising proposal, General Mills—the maker of Lucky Charms and Count Chocula cereals—sued the agency to repeal the rule permanently. As the legal case advanced, lawyers for the company convinced a federal judge in November 1978 to bar Pertschuk from having any participation in the rule-making process for the children’s advertising issue because, in the opinion of the court, the FTC chair had “prejudged” the facts when he supported the regulation so stridently.54 During Senate oversight hearings on the FTC’s activity, both Democratic and Republican lawmakers—who’d been targeted by the multimillion-dollar lobbying blitz by Boggs and others—unloaded on Pertschuk.

“I think this preoccupation with what children hear… is a waste of taxpayers’ money,” Connecticut Republican Senator Lowell Weicker told the FTC chairman. “I’m not going to have a bunch of idiots going around trying to discover the sugar content of cereal.”55

“It’s a good thing they passed the antilynching laws before you got appointed,” said South Carolina’s Democratic senator, Fritz Hollings. “You’re like the cross-eyed javelin thrower: you never hit anything, but you sure keep a lot of folks on the edge of their seats.”56

Then, with his allies on Capitol Hill deserting him, Pertschuk suffered a final indignity. After refusing to appropriate the cash needed to implement the children’s advertising proposal, Congress moved separately to block funding for the entire agency. On two occasions—May 1 and June 2, 1980—the FTC was forced to close its doors for twenty-four hours because it didn’t have enough money to operate.57 It was a watershed moment in corporate America’s struggle to win power in Washington. Food producers and broadcasters hadn’t just killed a regulatory proposal they didn’t like; they had turned the FTC’s chairman into a political pariah, shut down one of Washington’s oldest consumer protection agencies, and delivered a resounding message to regulators throughout the federal bureaucracy.58 “Other agencies that have not yet provoked Congress may not want to stir up that hornet’s nest,” a consumer advocate said at the time. “Regulators will have to keep more than one eye on what special interests they’re antagonizing.”59

The FTC was just one casualty in what had become, by the late 1970s, a fiery backlash against any and all regulations from Washington—a revolt fueled by corporate lobbyists, who were growing in number and influence each year. By the early 1980s, nearly 2,500 companies were paying lobbyists in Washington, up from fewer than 200 a decade earlier.60 Lobbying spending, which totaled about $100 million in the mid-1970s, would soon reach into the billions. And many of these newcomers would learn the influence-peddling game by studying Tommy Boggs.

On account of the public’s growing concerns over the economy, and the business community’s increasingly unified and sophisticated lobbying efforts, corporate interests quickly achieved a series of landmark victories even though Democrats controlled the White House and both chambers of Congress. In 1977, lawmakers in the Democratic-run House of Representatives voted down organized labor’s top legislative priority: a bill that would have allowed common situs picketing, or sympathy strikes arising from a single subcontractors’ dispute.61 The following year, lawmakers blocked the creation of a standalone consumer protection agency.62 After intense pressure from industry lobbyists, Congress gave companies additional time to come into compliance with existing air-and-water pollution laws,63 cut tax rates on capital gains and corporate profits,64 and successfully pressured the Occupational Safety and Health Administration to repeal hundreds of pages of regulations.65

As the decade drew to a close, the balance of power in Washington had inverted. Unions, consumer groups, and environmentalists no longer had the clout to drive the legislative agenda. Instead, after fifteen years on the defensive, corporate power was on the march.
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April 1, 1991

Columbia, South Carolina

In the late afternoon of an early spring day, stretch limousines and federal agents began to converge outside the majestic towers of Trinity Episcopal Cathedral in Columbia, South Carolina.1 One by one, the giants of Republican politics emerged from their vehicles and walked into the 179-year-old church. Wearing dark suits and somber expressions, they stepped through the arched oak front doors, proceeded past the stained-glass windows, and took their places among the bereaved. It was a display of power that rarely convenes outside of Washington. Vice President Dan Quayle was trailed by a Secret Service detail. Secretary of State James A. Baker III had flown in on a private jet. White House Chief of Staff John Sununu, Defense Secretary Dick Cheney, South Carolina Senator Strom Thurmond, and South Carolina governor Carroll Campbell all had VIP seats. Earlier in the week, organizers had grown concerned that there might not be enough limousines in Columbia to accommodate all the dignitaries, so they’d arranged to have additional ones brought in from Tennessee.2 At around four o’clock, the congregation turned to the back of the church and watched a group of pallbearers carry a wooden casket down the center aisle and set it next to the altar.3 “Politics wasn’t his business,” Vice President Quayle told the crowd of several hundred mourners. “It was Lee Atwater’s calling in life.”4

Of that, there was no doubt. At the time of his death, at age forty, Atwater was the defining campaign operative of the era. A key engineer of the Republican Party’s supremacy in presidential politics during the 1980s, he’d helped to steer Ronald Reagan to two terms in the Oval Office and George H. W. Bush to one.5 But as he mastered the art of manipulating the electorate, he unleashed a new age of political ugliness. Atwater was, in the words of an opponent, the “Babe Ruth of negative politics.”6 He pioneered the use of “wedge” issues—such as gay rights, abortion, school prayer, and, most notoriously, race—to drive once-reliable Democratic voters to the Republican Party.7 No attack was too vicious, no smear too shameful. Back in 1980, while managing the reelection campaign of Republican congressman Floyd Spence, Atwater had arranged for allegedly independent pollsters to contact white suburbanites in South Carolina and falsely inform them that Spence’s opponent, Tom Turnipseed, was a member of the NAACP—an association that chased away many of the state’s white voters. Atwater then tipped off the media to a painful episode in Turnipseed’s past: as a sixteen-year-old, Turnipseed had undergone electroshock therapy to treat a case of depression that was so serious he’d become suicidal.8 Atwater dismissed Turnipseed as “mentally ill,” and, he gleefully told the press, “they hooked him up to jumper cables.”9 His most infamous act came in 1988, when Atwater was spearheading George Bush’s presidential campaign against former Massachusetts governor Michael Dukakis. With Bush down by 17 points in the polls three months before the election, Atwater helped elevate Willie Horton, a Black convicted murderer who committed rape after being furloughed from a Massachusetts prison,10 into a national figure11 as part of an effort to discredit Dukakis as weak on crime and activate the racial prejudices of white voters. “By the time we’re finished,” Atwater boasted, “they’re going to wonder whether Willie Horton is Dukakis’s running mate.”12 In the aftermath of Bush’s convincing White House victory, he ascended to the highest post in the Republican Party: the chairmanship of the Republican National Committee.13 In the days following Atwater’s death, a delegation of GOP royalty traveled to South Carolina to pay its respects to the man who’d put them in power. “If anybody in heaven has a need for a political adviser,” Governor Campbell said during his eulogy, “they have the best.”14

On account of his vicious tactics, Atwater was reviled by Washington’s liberal establishment. But, as John Brady notes in his 1996 biography, Bad Boy: The Life and Politics of Lee Atwater, even his enemies couldn’t have crafted a crueler demise. At age thirty-nine, while serving as RNC chairman—the apex of his career ambitions—doctors discovered a tumor in his brain that was, as Atwater put it, “the size of a hen’s egg.”15 Over the next thirteen months, during his slow march to certain death, the GOP’s most feared political enforcer devolved into a feeble and desperate man. Surgery left him unable to use most of his body’s left side; it took two people to move him from the bed to the wheelchair. He had violent seizures that could last as long as twenty minutes.16 As a result of the medication, his hair fell out in clumps, and his face became so bloated that he was difficult to recognize. When physicians were unable to restore his health, Atwater searched elsewhere for answers. Tibetan monks examined his urine and prescribed vitamins and creams. Therapists analyzed his dreams, and a psychiatrist explored his subconscious. At the direction of an alternative healer, he stopped wearing black T-shirts and started sporting red underwear.17 Yet still the disease progressed. During one six-week period, Atwater was hospitalized on five separate occasions. He broke down in sobs of anguish, and he shrieked at night from the pain. The morphine drip triggered bouts of delusion in which Atwater became convinced that someone was trying to kill him. He demanded that visitors be frisked for weapons, and he asked an aide to carry a gun for his safety.18 Eventually he called his mother in South Carolina and asked her to come to Washington and sleep next to him in his hospital room. At one point, he made a hopeless request. “I want to die,” he said. “Just get a gun and shoot me, Mama. You’re the only person who can do it.”19

After Atwater’s diagnosis became public, the biggest names in politics and culture made grand gestures of sympathy. Presidents George Bush and Ronald Reagan visited him. NBC News anchor Tom Brokaw called to wish him well. Actor and future California governor Arnold Schwarzenegger sent a bouquet of flowers, along with a note reading, “From one terminator to another.”20 However, over the many months of his treatment, Atwater’s increasingly unpleasant condition worked to keep most people away. Day by day, the countless Reagan and Bush administration aides and party officials who owed their careers to Atwater gradually disappeared from his life. “Lee couldn’t do anything for these people anymore,” said Linda Reed, a former Republican aide whom Atwater had hired as a caregiver. “It was Washington politics at its purest. This is the meanest town in America.”21 Instead, Atwater relied on his oldest friend in Washington, Charlie Black, to guide him through his terminal illness.

Though he was also a GOP operative with Southern roots, Black, then forty-four, was in many ways Atwater’s opposite. While Atwater was an impulsive hooligan—he once answered the door for an Esquire magazine interview wearing only boxers and socks22—Black was a devout Christian who played golf and made time to read novels.23 During their many years of working together on campaigns and as business partners in Washington, Black had come to serve as an older brother to Atwater. “I’ve sort of been his alter ego,” as Black once put it.24 He provided the sober-minded counsel that Atwater needed to negotiate the various professional pitfalls and marriage blowups that encumber the life of a high-end campaign operative. Upon learning of the diagnosis, Black organized a group of fellow GOP strategists to analyze cancer research and help determine the best course of treatment. Once Atwater became too weak to carry out his duties at the RNC, Black took over as the party’s top spokesman. And when Atwater expressed an interest in religion, Black gave him a Bible.25

Facing the end, Atwater announced that he’d experienced a spiritual awakening. “I have found Jesus Christ,”26 he told a reporter in November 1990, nine months after his diagnosis. The “bad boy” of Republican politics declared that he was through with the negativity, and he pledged to lead the rest of his life according to the strictures of the golden rule: Do unto others as you would have them do unto you. “I don’t hate anybody anymore,” he said. “I have nothing but good feelings toward people. It’s just no point in fighting and feuding.”27 He preserved his thoughts by speaking into a small tape recorder. “Let this be the first day of the new Lee Atwater, the thoughtful Lee Atwater,” he said in one recording. “I want everybody to be proud of me because I’ve got to show that Lee Atwater really is Lee Atwater and that I am an honest, decent guy with no hidden agenda, with no selfish agenda.”28

At the suggestion of a spiritual counselor, Atwater compiled a “list of regrets,” and he contacted some of the people he’d harmed to express contrition. He wrote “forgiveness letters” to two Democratic candidates whose careers he’d destroyed on the campaign trail. Writing to Tom Turnipseed, Atwater said it was a mistake to have weaponized his experience with depression in the South Carolina Senate race a decade earlier. “It’s my hope,” Atwater wrote, “that you’ll grant a sick man a favor and forget it.”29 Later, in a Life magazine article, he apologized for some of the things he’d said about Michael Dukakis during the 1988 presidential campaign, tying him to the convicted murderer Willie Horton.30 More broadly, Atwater said he’d reconsidered the way he’d slashed and burned himself to the summit of Washington power in the 1980s. “My illness has helped me to see that what was missing in society is what was missing in me: a little heart, a lot of brotherhood,” he wrote. “The 1980s were about acquiring—acquiring wealth, power, prestige. I know I acquired more wealth, power, and prestige than most. But you can acquire all you want and still feel empty. What power wouldn’t I trade for a little more time with my family. What price wouldn’t I pay for an evening with friends. It took a deadly illness to put me eye to eye with that truth, but it is a truth that the country, caught up in its ruthless ambitions and moral decay, can learn on my dime.”31

In the early morning hours of March 29, 1990, while rain came down over Washington, Atwater’s body finally gave out.32 Over the next several days, Black worked with Atwater’s family and White House officials to arrange the funeral services in Washington and South Carolina. From the crowded pews inside Trinity Episcopal Cathedral, Black watched Vice President Quayle appraise the legacy of his old friend. “Today the world spins in new directions,” Quayle said, “and Lee Atwater played a vital part in making all of that history.”33 For Black, however, the death of Atwater represented more than the loss of a singular campaign operative. It was the conclusion of one of the most consequential partnerships in Washington history.

Nearly two decades earlier, Black and Atwater—two GOP operatives from the South—had crossed paths with a pair of Republican consultants from the Northeast: Roger Stone and Paul Manafort. Before long, these four brash, young politicos teamed up in a series of overlapping political and lobbying ventures that would, over the course of the 1980s, change the way Washington worked and fundamentally alter the relationship between the government and the economy. “They are,” as former Reagan campaign manager John Sears put it in 1985, “the best and brightest Republican operatives today.”34

The four men arrived in Washington in the late 1970s as young conservative rebels determined to dismantle liberal control of the city, and they came to embody a new archetype of political insiders—professional campaign strategists—who used polling data, TV ads, and relationships with reporters to influence voters and elect politicians. “We’re all hardball; we’ll do anything and everything within legal boundaries to win,” Atwater once said. “We don’t blink. We don’t flinch. The other guy usually does, and when he does, we know exactly what to do.”35 By employing an unusually savage array of tactics, the partners helped implant the values of the corporate political revolution into the Washington mainstream: facilitating the ideological hardening of the Republican Party, populating Capitol Hill with more right-wing lawmakers, forging alliances between the GOP’s populist and capitalist wings, helping to uproot from DC the nearly half-century-long tradition of New Deal liberalism, and assisting the reorientation of federal policy making around a new set of pro-business ideals.

After helping to put Ronald Reagan in the White House, the men struck out on their own, creating a new type of political-influence operation that allowed them to bring their talents as election operatives to the stuffy world of lobbying. “If politics has done anything,” Manafort once said, “it’s taught us to treat everything as a campaign.”36 By the time the decade was through, the firm had emerged as the premier lobbying shop in the city—the go-to destination for anyone with a political problem that needed to be solved in Reagan’s Washington. Like the corporate behemoths that would come to define the economic landscape, the firm pioneered an integrated business model that expanded the scope of its work far beyond what had traditionally been handled by lobbying firms. When the architects of history needed political advice, they turned to Charlie Black, Paul Manafort, Roger Stone, and Lee Atwater. On any given day, the glass doors of their office might push open for a future US president, a Wall Street tycoon, a third world guerrilla leader, an aspiring senator, a media mogul, or an industrial titan.37 It was, in the words of Time magazine, “the ultimate supermarket of influence peddling.”38

While Tommy Boggs drew his clout from the old-line establishment of New Deal liberals, this new dynasty of Republican influencers amassed its power through the conservative revolution. In this sense, Black, Manafort, Stone, and Atwater became to Republican Washington what Tommy Boggs was to Democratic Washington. Now, regardless of which party was in power or their own political persuasions, anyone with enough money could find a talented lobbyist to help them get what they needed out of our democracy.



Fourteen years before Atwater’s funeral, in the spring of 1977, Paul Manafort Jr. arrived in Memphis for the biennial convention of the Young Republicans National Federation.39 Walking into the Holiday Inn–Rivermont,40 a fifteen-story tower overlooking the Mississippi River, he found hundreds of other youthful GOP loyalists slumped in various states of anguish and despair. It was a dark time for the party of Lincoln. Just six months earlier, on November 2, 1976, Republicans had suffered a full-blown catastrophe when voters elected former Georgia governor Jimmy Carter president and kept Democrats in control of both chambers of Congress; the government’s entire policy-making apparatus was now under liberal control. The dismal election results were only the latest disaster for a Republican Party that had been in slow-motion collapse since the Watergate scandal rocked the electorate. Indeed, as eight hundred budding politicos converged in Memphis for the Young Republicans convention,41 the GOP’s very survival seemed in doubt. “Trying to avoid extinction as a party,” PBS newsman Robert MacNeil told viewers at the start of the convention, “is one of the main themes of this sober gathering.”42 But Manafort hadn’t traveled all the way from Washington, DC, to console his political allies. He had bigger plans.

At the time, the Young Republicans wasn’t just a social club for eighteen-to-forty-year-old political obsessives; it was a decisive force in internal GOP politics.43 Through the enthusiasm of thousands of members around the country, the group had the clout to influence the agenda for the entire party. In 1964, for example, fiery support from the Young Republicans had helped deliver the GOP’s presidential nomination to Barry Goldwater.44 The organization also functioned as a critical farm system for future Republican elites; House Speaker Kevin McCarthy,45 former defense secretary Robert Gates,46 and countless other lawmakers and top officials had gotten their start there. Moreover, the federation was an official arm of the GOP; the group’s leaders worked from offices at the Republican National Committee’s headquarters in Washington. For Manafort, seizing control of the Young Republicans was an irresistible opportunity to make a name for himself in the party. So, even though former president Gerald Ford and ex-California governor Ronald Reagan were each scheduled to address the convention, it was the election of the organization’s next chairman that brought Manafort to the Holiday Inn–Rivermont that spring.

Manafort hadn’t come to Memphis alone. In his master plan to take over the Young Republicans, he’d enlisted his buddy Roger Stone, a twenty-four-year-old operative whose history of Watergate-era skullduggery had already stirred controversy. The plan was straightforward: Stone would enter the election as a candidate for chairman of the Young Republicans, and Manafort would work behind the scenes as his campaign manager.47 At twenty-eight years old, Manafort had a bushy mustache, thick sideburns,48 and a fondness for custom-tailored suits. Though only a handful of years into his career, he’d already become an authority in the messy art of convention-floor politics; he was preternaturally well suited for the gossip gathering, promise trading, and loyalty enforcement needed to orchestrate election victories at chaotic mass gatherings.49 In Memphis, according to Franklin Foer’s 2018 exposé in the Atlantic, Manafort turned his hotel suite into the command center for Stone’s campaign. He worked at a folding table stacked high with “whip books,” or dossiers of information that he’d compiled on every single delegate in attendance. He had several additional phone lines installed in the room, and he used walkie-talkies to direct his battalion of deputies, or whips, who were rallying support for Stone throughout the hotel grounds. Manafort rented a riverboat and organized a booze cruise on the Mississippi River, where uncommitted delegates couldn’t escape the pressure of his whips. Before long, the GOP diehards who’d gathered in Memphis started referring to Manafort’s loyalists simply as “the Team.”50

Manafort needed every vote he could muster for what became a convention-hall knife fight. Rivals circulated a newspaper column claiming that Stone was “waist-deep in 1972 Nixon campaign dirty tricks,” attacks that so enraged Manafort he refused to allow Stone to pose for a photograph with his challenger.51 In the end, the Team’s muscle proved too much. The opposing candidate, twenty-eight-year-old car dealer Rich Evans of Kentucky, withdrew from the race and led three hundred convention delegates in a walkout, insisting that the election’s outcome had been “scripted in the backrooms.” The machinations of his opponents, Evans argued, “is not the image of the Young Republicans.”52 The development thrilled Manafort and Stone; the twentysomething duo was now at the wheel of their own political machine. But victory provided them something more personal as well. The two young operatives had arrived at the convention still bearing the wounds of the painful professional setbacks they’d recently endured back in Washington. By assuming control of the Young Republicans, they had found their path to redemption.

Manafort had acquired his political instincts as a boy in New Britain, Connecticut, a once-lively mixture of blue-collar immigrant communities—Polish, Irish, Ukrainian, Italian53—that, on account of the Stanley tools factory in town, came to be known as “Hardware City.” The family had deep roots there. Upon emigrating from Naples, Italy, in the early 1900s, Manafort’s then ten-year-old grandfather landed at Ellis Island without knowing a word of English. He made his way north to Connecticut, where he started his own demolition company, New Britain House Wrecking, while his wife ran a bootleg distillery in the basement of their home. Over the coming decades, the demolition company—later renamed Manafort Brothers—would emerge as a powerhouse in the local construction industry, building train stations and roads all over the state. The family’s name means “strong hand” in Italian.54
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